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2012 
InteRnAtIonAlIse 
ouR BusIness

Actively Promoting the 
Viking Brand overseas, 

focusing on Emerging 
Markets, and aggressively 

Expanding Overseas 
Footprint in a targeted and 

measured manner.

OuR INTERNATIONALISATION

Secured $30 million new orders from 
overseas customers, representing 55% of 
total orders secured in 2012 and 54% year-
on-year growth. Recorded first major wins in 
Indonesia and Brazil.

       Globalisation is not something 
we can hold off or turn off . . . it is the 
economic equivalent of a force of nature 
– like wind or water. Bill Clinton
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OuR AcHIEVEMENTS
(from continuing operations)

•  $87.3 million in Revenue
•  $80.0 million in Net Assets
•  $11.6 million in Cash

OuR TRANSFORMATION

Completed disposal of non-core businesses 
and legacy assets; re-channeled resources 
to focus on offshore and marine businesses 
and portfolio.

OuR REBRANDING

Defining SucceSS in the OffShOre  
anD Marine inDuStry

Viking integrated services and solutions 
are an integral or indispensable part of the 
offshore and marine industry. We partner 
you in every success.

2012 
At A GlAnCe
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ChAIRmAn’s 
messAGe

In 2010, we started our journey of transformation to 
become an integrated offshore and marine service 
provider. After two years, our 3-year master plan – the 
3i-Strategy of Invest, Integrate, and Internationalise, 
has marched into the final phase. In 2012, the key 
focus was to take our business onto an international 
growth path. Though 2012 proved to be a tough year 
and our business experienced challenges, we stuck 
to our plan and relentlessly marched on.

3i-Strategy 

As reported last year, the Group expanded its service 
offerings to the entire spectrum of O&M activities 
through a number of O&M-related acquisitions in 
2010, completing the Invest phase of the 3i-Strategy. 
The subsequent year was spent integrating the various 
elements to a customer-centric business value chain. 

In 2012, the Group has marched into the last phase of 
our 3i-Strategy – Internationalisation. We established 
new footprints in exciting emerging markets such as 
Indonesia and Brazil, and achieved success in our 
international markets despite overall difficult market 
conditions. 

Internationalisation, a Global Footpath

The Group started establishing overseas presence in 
late 2011 and gained early success in Vietnam and 
Malaysia. In 2012, we secured 54% more international 
orders than the previous year, increasing the 
percentage of the Group’s international sales to 55% 
compared to 30% the year before. Of the new orders, 
approximately $4 million are secured first time ever in 
Indonesia. In our expansion to the Brazil market, we 
also won exciting contracts worth $12 million with a 
Singapore rig builder to deliver to the largest oil and 
gas consortium in Brazil. 

Following a year of lows in our China business, our 
largest market outside of Singapore, the Group 
continued to mature our China business presence 
and achieved 115% growth in new turnkey integration 
orders. More encouragingly, we added nine new 
shipyard customers amid a declining marine sector, 
further solidifying our customer base in China. 

In Australia, another key mature O&M market, the 
Group achieved record sales of approximately $5 
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ChAIRmAn’s messAGe

million of winches and deck equipments from leading 
marine contractors.

In addition to new orders, the Group completed 
the Vietnam and Malaysia projects successfully, 
a testament to our capability to deliver projects 
overseas, sealing the Group’s international service 
offerings.

Transformation and Rebranding

In early 2013, the successful disposal of our last non-
core businesses in retail and distribution marked the 
successful transformation of the Group.

With the completion of 3i-Strategy in sight, the Group 
embarked on a rebranding project in 2012 to align our 
upgraded business track to a consistent corporate 
vision:

Defining success in the offshore  
and marine industry

Simply put, our vision spelled out our laser focus in 
the global offshore and marine industry with a singular 
goal reference – to help our customers be successful 
and in turn translate to our success.

The new vision statement overarches the Group’s 
corporate vision, mission and values across all 
business units, backed by our 400-strong workforce 
across the globe. 

Going Forward 2013

2012 was a challenging year for the O&M industry. 
Despite success overseas, the Group experienced 
some bumps along the way and recorded lower-than-
expected profitability. We remain encouraged that  
the growth potential of emerging markets will help the 
Group to diversify our portfolio and better manage 
risks. We have reasonable confidence that the Group 
is in a better position than prior 3i-Strategy years. 

Whilst the global marine sector continues to be 
challenging, there now exists a window of opportunity, 
albeit a short one to acquire and own offshore assets 
at favourable terms. We will be looking at partnering 
experienced operators to acquire offshore assets and 
chartering them out to our clients to provide a longer 

committed earnings stream. This will kick off our 
next strategy to take the business onto a new growth 
horizon.

Our shareholders’ continued support of our Rights 
Issue exercise will allow us to raise adequate seeding 
capital to capitalise on the opportunities. Continuing 
funding of the asset will be achieved through future 
contracts cashflow. Also leveraging our physical assets 
to generate long-term future streams, we continue 
to build the Viking Innovation Centre to house high 
value-add business activities and incubate promising 
growing business setups in the offshore and marine 
sector. With the required approvals in place and the 
construction logistics arranged, we should see returns 
twelve months into the future.

Our 3i-Strategy is already equipping us with greater 
diversity and ability to weather uncertainties. Aside 
from the initiatives mentioned above, we will go on 
recalibrating and repositioning our businesses and 
resources for future growth in a more efficient and 
effective manner, and continue moving up the industry 
value chain to attain longer-term sustainability and 
profitability. 

4 Straight Years of Dividend Payout

Our continued profitable performance and good cash 
position allow us to propose a dividend of 0.1 cent per 
share to reward our shareholders for their continued 
support. This represents our fourth consecutive year 
of dividend announcement.

Appreciating Words

We want to thank our employees, customers, partners, 
investors, shareholders, and our suppliers, for 
supporting us through this tough year. Viking strongly 
believes in our people, who are aligned to our goals, 
committed to winning, excited about the possibilities, 
and will relentlessly march on, all of which is crucial to 
our going forward formula. With passion and fortitude, 
we look forward to a brighter future with all of you.

Andy Lim
Chairman
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CoRpoRAte InfoRmAtIon
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CoRpoRAte
pRofIle

Viking Offshore & Marine Limited (‘VOM’) is an 
offshore and marine specialist listed on the Singapore 
Exchange and headquartered at a 133,000 square 
feet premise on 21 Kian Teck Road.

Driven by the belief that the offshore and marine 
sector will provide strong and sustainable growth with 
the rising demand for oil, VOM provides integrated 
solutions that transcend product categories and 
geographical boundaries to its valued customers.

The offshore and marine business of VOM consists 
of three operating companies – Viking Airtech Pte 
Ltd (“Viking Airtech”), Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd 
(“Promoter Hydraulics”), and Marshal Systems Pte Ltd 
(“Marshal Systems”). Today, the Group has become 
a global business as it forays into new international 
markets which offer exciting growth and business 
opportunities.

Viking Airtech is a leading turnkey specialist of 
end-to-end solutions in the design, engineering, 
manufacturing, installation, supervision, testing and 
commissioning of heating, ventilation, air-conditioning 
and refrigeration (“HVAC&R”) systems.

Promoter Hydraulics is the largest supplier of 
hydraulic winches and power packs in Southeast Asia 
with an extensive range of readily available models. 
It also supplies related deck machinery to cater to 
customers’ overall design requirements.

Enabling
in the High Seas

Performance
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GRoup stRuCtuRe

Marshal Systems is a leading system integrator which 
provides seamless connection to customers’ offshore 
and marine structure with its telecommunications 
system, fire and gas detection system, and control 
and instrumentation systems. 

Encouraged by the pipeline of opportunities overseas, 
VOM has further rooted its footprint by converting 
what were previously overseas marketing operations 
(“OMO”) and representative offices to now full-
fledged operations in China, Malaysia, and Indonesia. 
Additionally, Viking Airtech has a quality-driven 
manufacturing and fabrication facility in China with 
the capacity and capability to supply build-to-order 
heating, ventilation, air-conditioning and refrigeration 
systems (“HVAC&R”) to customers around the globe. 

Together with its extensive network of service 
stations, VOM is able to support its clients on a global 
scale. Thanks to its overseas expansion, VOM is able 
to secure project orders from Vietnam, Indonesia, 
Malaysia, Australia, Middle East, and Brazil. The on-
ground operations of plants, fully-operated offices 
and satellite office contacts are supported by its 
extensive global service network with stations across 
major cities around the world.

Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd

Viking Facilities Management  
and Operations Pte Ltd

Viking Offshore Brasil 
Integracao de Sistemas Ltda

Marshal Systems Pte Ltd

Marshal Offshore  
and Marine Engrg Co, Ltd

Viking Offshore Global Pte Ltd

Viking HVAC Pte Ltd

Viking Airtech Pte Ltd

Viking Airtech (Shanghai) Co, Ltd

PT Viking Airtech

Viking Airtech Yantai Co, Ltd

Viking Airtech Sdn Bhd

Pending completion of 
setup formalities

Pending completion of 
setup formalities
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CoRpoRAte 
InfoRmAtIon

company Registration
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
(listed on the Singapore Exchange) 
Registration: 199307300M

Registered Office
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
21 Kian Teck Road
Singapore 628773
Tel: (65) 6601 9500
Fax: (65) 6601 9600
Email: general@vikingom.com
Website: www.vikingom.com

Bankers
United Overseas Bank Limited
DBS Bank Ltd
Overseas-Chinese Banking 
  Corporation Limited
Malayan Banking Berhad
Standard Chartered Bank

Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants
One Raffles Quay
North Tower Level 18
Singapore 048583
Partner-In-Charge: Ho Shyan Yan
(wef financial year ended 31 December 2008)

company’s Sponsor
CIMB Bank Berhad
Singapore Branch
50 Raffles Place #09-01
Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623
Tel: (65) 6337 5115
Contact Person: Tony Toh

Share Registrar & Share Transfer Office
M&C Services Pte Ltd
112 Robinson Road #05-01
Singapore 068902
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BoARd And 
CommIttee

Board of Directors
Andy Lim
Chairman and Executive Director

Ong Choo Guan
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director 

Lin Wei Daniel
Executive Director

Woo Peng Kong
Non-Executive Director

Lien Kait Long
Independent Director

Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Independent Director

Lee Suan Hiang
Independent Director

Audit committee
Lien Kait Long (Chairman)
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Lee Suan Hiang

Nominating committee
Lee Suan Hiang (Chairman)
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Lin Wei Daniel

Remuneration committee
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin (Chairman)
Lee Suan Hiang
Lien Kait Long

Advisor to chairman
Bo Johansson

company Secretary
Lotus Isabella Lim Mei Hua
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memBeRs  
of the BoARd

1. Andy Lim, 55 
 Chairman and Executive Director

Mr Lim was appointed Chairman and Executive Director of the 
Company on 15 June 2009. As the founder and Chairman of 
private equity firm Tembusu Partners Pte Ltd, he is currently 
the Executive Director of Associated Leisure International and 
Chairman of MoneyWorld Group of Companies. His other board 
appointments include Chairman of Overseas Experts Council 
(Singapore branch) of Peking University’s China Centre for 
Strategic Studies, President of Enterprise 50 Association and 
a member of the Home Affairs Uniformed Service Invest Board 
of Trustee. His past board appointments include Chairman of 
Alpha Singapore and Council Member of the National Council 
for Anti-Drug Abuse. In September 2004, Mr Lim was appointed 
Honorary Consul to the Republic of Lithuania. Mr Lim holds 
an Engineering degree (First Class Honours) from Cambridge 
University and a Masters in Business Administration from 
University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA).

2. Ong choo Guan, 61 
 Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Mr Ong was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
on 15 January 2010, and appointed Executive Director on 
16 April 2010. With more than 30 years of management 
experience in the offshore and marine industry, Mr Ong has been 
instrumental in driving the growth of Viking Airtech Pte Ltd since 
its incorporation in 1994 as part of Viking Engineering Group. 
Since his appointment as Executive Director of Viking Airtech 
in 2003, he has turned the business around and brought Viking 
Airtech to new heights as a leading HVAC&R solutions provider to 
shipyards and vessel owners in the region. Prior to joining Viking 
Engineering Group in 1980 where he was General Manager,  
Mr Ong was with Jurong Shipyard as the Overall-in-charge 
Engineer for mechanical works onboard the vessels. He is a 

Mechanical Engineer by profession and received various training 
in Finance and Accounting, and Marketing Management.

3. Lin Wei Daniel, 29
 Executive Director

Mr Lin was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Board 
on 13 May 2011, and was redesignated Executive Director on 
1 May 2012. He is responsible for legal affairs and regulatory 
compliance of the Group, and has additional responsibilities 
in the area of investment and divestment advisory, lead fund 
raising projects, and investor relations management. He is 
also Director of boutique mergers & acquisitions advisory firm 
Blue Ocean Capital Partners. In addition, Mr Lin is currently 
a Non-Executive Director of Singapore-listed companies 
Nico Steel Holdings Ltd and Ann Aik Ltd and a Director of 
Associated Leisure Group of Companies. He is also a member 
of the Finance Committee with the Singapore Institute of 
Directors. Mr Lin graduated with an honours degree in law in 
2007 from Bristol University, UK. Mr Lin is the son of Mr Andy 
Lim, a substantial shareholder and Executive Director of the 
Company.

4. Lien Kait Long, 64 
 Independent Director

Mr Lien was appointed Non-Executive Director of the 
Company on 26 May 2008. He was re-designated Independent 
Director on 4 May 2009. Mr Lien has extensive experience in 
accounting and finance, corporate management and business 
investment.  He has held a number of senior management 
positions as well as executive directorships in various public 
and private corporations in Singapore, Hong Kong and China. 
He currently serves as an Independent Director on the boards 
of several Singapore and Chinese companies listed on the 
Singapore Exchange. The listed companies that he has present 
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and prior experience in are from diverse industries including 
manufacturing,  telecommunications, renewable  energy, oil & 
gas, consumer goods, textile and flexible packaging. Mr Lien 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Nanyang University 
and is a fellow member of the CPA Australia and the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

5. Tan Wee Peng Kelvin, 48
 Independent Director

Mr Tan was appointed Independent Director of the Company 
on 25 June 2009. He is currently the Managing Director of GBE 
Holdings Pte Ltd. He has more than 20 years of professional 
experience including senior management positions at AETOS 
Security Management, PSA International, and Temasek 
Holdings, the last being the Managing Director of its Private 
Equity Funds Investment Unit. He was a consultant advising 
companies investing in China, and also served with the 
Singapore Police Force. A Local Merit Scholar (Police Service), 
Mr Tan holds a Bachelor in Accountancy (First Class Honours) 
and a Master in Business Administration from the National 
University of Singapore. He also attended the Programme for 
Management Development at Harvard Business School. Mr Tan 
currently holds directorship appointments with several other 
private and public-listed companies.

6. Lee Suan Hiang, 62 
 Independent Director

Mr Lee was appointed Independent Director of the Company 
on 16 April 2010. He is the Chief Executive of the Real Estate 
Developers’ Association of Singapore.   A Colombo Plan 
Scholar in Industrial Design (Engineering), he had a varied 
career in public service as Deputy Managing Director of the 
Economic Development Board and Chief Executive of SPRING 
Singapore, National Productivity Board, Singapore Institute of 

memBeRs of the BoARd

3

1

5

6

Standards and Industrial Research and National Arts Council. 
He was also Chairman of PSB Corporation, Deputy Chairman 
of the International Federation of Arts Councils and Cultural 
Agencies and Council Member of the International Standards 
Organisation. He is the current President of the EDB Society and 
a Fellow of the UK Chartered Management Institute, Chartered 
Institute of Marketing, and World Academy for Productivity 
Science.  Mr Lee was awarded the Public Administration (Gold) 
Medal in 1998, World SME Association Award in 2001, Japan 
External Trade Organisation Award in 2002 and Chevalier de 
l’Ordre des Arts et Lettres from France in 2010.

7. Woo Peng Kong, 60
 Non-Executive Director

Mr Woo was appointed Independent Director of the Board on 
1 September 2010, and was re-designated Executive Director 
on 15 Oct 2011. On 1 October 2012, Mr Woo assumed the 
position of Non-Executive Director for the Group. He has over 
30 years of experience in the oil & gas and marine & offshore 
industries, holding various senior management positions in 
engineering, sales & marketing, new business start-ups and 
joint ventures, with particular expertise in business operations 
and financial management. He was executive director, 
managing director and CEO in various private and public-
listed companies. Currently, he is the CEO and Executive 
Director of YHM Group Limited. Mr Woo holds a First Class 
Honours Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering from 
the University of Singapore, and a Certified Diploma in 
Accounting & Finance from the Chartered Association of 
Certified Accountants.

8. Bo Johansson, 72
 Advisor to Chairman

Please see page 16
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exeCutIve 
mAnAGement

1. Andy Lim, 55 
 Chairman and Executive Director

2. Ong choo Guan, 61 
 Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

3. Lin Wei Daniel, 29
 Executive Director

4. Ng Yeau chong, 46
 Chief Operating Officer

Mr Ng was appointed Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
on 6 August 2010. Mr Ng has more than 20 years of professional 
experience covering Sales & Marketing, Program Management, 
and Operations & Training in both public and private sectors. 
An Overseas Merit Scholar (SAF), Mr Ng was with the Republic 
of Singapore Navy for more than 10 years. Prior to joining the 
Group, he served as Asia Consulting Solution Director (Oracle 
Consulting Services, 2007-2010), Vice President (UOB, 2000-
2007), and Assistant Head (Spring Singapore 1999-2000). Mr 
Ng holds a Master of Arts from University of Oxford and a MBA 
(Accountancy) from Nanyang Technological University. Mr 
Ng is a Certified Financial Analyst (CFA), and a Financial Risk 
Manager (FRM).

5. Low Jooi Kok, 48
 Chief Financial Officer

Mr Low was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Company 
on 2 March 2010. Mr Low has more than 20 years of commercial 
experience spanning sales, marketing and line-of-business 
executive management, financial management and operational 
management. He was Chief Financial Officer of IBM Singapore 
in 1998, and then Director of Business Partner Sales for ASEAN 
and South Asia till 2009. Prior to joining IBM, Mr Low was with 
Visa International, holding various appointments overseeing 
financial planning and management of strategic business 
investments for Visa within the Asia-Pacific region. Mr Low 
holds a Master of Business Administration from Southern Illinois 
University, Carbondale and is a Certified Public Accountant.

6. Tay Mong Seng Jeffrey, 54
 Managing Director, Marshal Systems Pte Ltd

Mr Tay is the founder and Managing Director of Marshal 
Systems Pte Ltd, a leading system integrator preferred by 
internationally-renowned companies in the offshore and marine 
industry. He began his career in the offshore and marine industry 
in 1981 with Singapore Slipway and Engineering, a subsidiary 
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exeCutIve mAnAGement

of Keppel Shipyard. In 1983, he joined Kongsberg (Asia) to 
handle projects for Far East Levingston Shipbuilding which is 
now known as Keppel FELS. Mr Tay brings to the Group more 
than 29 years of industry experience and believes differentiation 
is the key to outshining competitors in the business world. Mr 
Tay received various training and certification in the areas of 
electrical, electronics, communication services, and also sales 
and marketing management.

7. Ong Li Yi Jason, 33
 Director (International Business)

Mr Ong was appointed Director (International Business) of 
the Company on 1 September 2010. Mr Ong has 10 years of 
international experience, having worked and lived abroad on 
3 continents and 5 cities since 2001. He was a management 
consultant with A.T. Kearney based in Chicago and Shanghai. 
During his time as a consultant, Mr Ong worked on a 
diverse range of projects spanning growth strategy, human 
resource development, operational improvements, and cost 
transformation, among others. He has travelled extensively 
throughout North America and Asia mostly working for large 
multinational corporation clients. Mr Ong holds a Master of 
Business Administration from INSEAD and a Bachelor of 

Business Administration from the University of Michigan Ross 
School of Business. He is the son of Mr Ong Choo Guan, an 
Executive Director of the Company.

8. Peh chee Oon Lawrence, 50
 General Manager, Viking Airtech Yantai Facility

Mr Peh was appointed General Manager (YanTai-China) of 
the company on 1 December 2012. Mr Peh has 14 years of 
international experience, having worked and lived abroad on 3 
continents and 4 cities since 1998. With more than 22 years of 
management experience in the contract manufacturing industry 
(both mechanical and electronics). Mr Peh received various 
training and certification in the areas of quality, production, 
procurement, operations management, and also sales and 
marketing management.

4

2
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AdvIseRs

1. Bo Johansson, 72
 Advisor to Chairman

Mr Johansson was appointed Advisor to Chairman of 
the Company on 16 April 2010. He is currently Managing 
Director of Viking Engineering Pte Ltd and was Chairman 
of Viking Airtech Pte Ltd since its incorporation until 2009. 
As a Certified Turbine and Gears Engineer Stal-Laval Turbin 
AB (now Siemens Sweden AB) since 1969, Mr Johansson 
has extensive experience as a Specialist Engineer on main 
propulsion steam turbines, gears and control systems for 
various ship-owners, including Golar Management LNG, 
Shell, BP, British Gas, ExxonMobil, Chevron Shipping USA, 
Tanker Pacific, Bergesen Norway, Abu Dhabi Gas, Qatargas, 
MOL Japan, Sovcomflot Russia and others. He also guided 
Viking Engineering into the field of self-discharging ships and 
barges for bulk materials as agents for BMH Marine Sweden, 
now Cargotec Bulk.

2. Mr Jorge Antas Barros, 54
 Advisor for Brazil and Latin America Region

Mr Jorge Antas Barros was appointed Advisor to the 
Group in October 2012 to assist and advise on the Group’s 
internationalization plan into Brazil and the Latin American 
region. Mr Barros is a Portugese citizen and a lawyer by 
profession practicing at Baba & Mata in Lisbon, Portugal. He 
is the Honorary Consul of the Republic of Lithuania since 2010 
and Vice President of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
Portugal /Baltics since 2011. Between 1985 to 1994, Mr Barros 
held various key appointments including; European Parliament 
Officer of European Union in Brussels, Cabinet Minister of 
National Defence and the Secretary of State for Defense, and 
Member of the German Marshall Fond/joined the Marshall 
Memorial Fellowship Program - United States of America. From 
1994 onwards, Mr Barros went into the academic fields holding 
key appointments as Secretary-General of the University 
Technology of Viseu and subsequently Professor of European 
Law at the University Technology of Viseu. Mr Barros graduated 

with a Degree in Law from the Catholic University of Lisbon, 
majoring in International Relations and European Law. He also 
have qualifications in European Law at the Free University of 
Brussels and the Catholic University of Leuven in Belgium.

3. Mr Jorgen Gismervik, 49
 Advisor for Europe Region

Mr Gismervik is a Norwegian citizen who has more than 20 years 
of experience in worldwide oil and gas, and offshore and marine 
industries. He is previously a substantial shareholder of Marshal 
Systems Pte Ltd and has since been appointed as Advisor to 
the Group covering the European region and specialization in 
marine telecommunication field. Over the years, Mr Gismervik 
have built-up several telecommunication companies in Europe 
and since 1999 founded a worldwide telecommunication 
company in Norway where he is also the Executive Director 
and Chief Executive Officer. Additionally, since 2006, he is also 
a Director and substantial shareholder of a Spanish-registered 
maritime telecommunication company. Mr Gismervik holds 
a first class honors Bachelor Degree in Telecom Engineering 
from the University of Stavanger and also possesses several 
relevant and recognized certification for the electronic and 
telecommunication industry.

4. Mr Helmi Koh, 56
 Advisor for Southeast Asia Region

Mr Helmi Koh is a Singaporean who has more than 30 years 
of experience in worldwide oil and gas, and offshore and 
marine industries. He is the Chairman of Samudra Group of 
Companies consisting of Samudra MPC, Samudra Asia Pacific, 
Tap Marine and Offshore Services and District Energy Ventures, 
doing marine & offshore chartering, project managements and 
supplies in Malaysia. Mr Koh holds a Masters of Business 
Administration, and has vast experience in handling projects 
for the past 20 years.

1 32 4
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REVENuE
($ Million)

8769

20122010 2011

84

NET PROFIT AFTER TAx
($ Million)

1.210.4

20122010 2011

5.4

NET ASSETS
($ Million)

8085

20122010 2011

80

2012 
fInAnCIAl summARy
(fRom ContInuInG opeRAtIons)
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2012 fInAnCIAl summARy2012 
fInAnCIAl summARy

cASH FLOW
($ Million)

2010 2011 2012

Opening Cash Balance 7.1 13.1 8.8

Net Cash Flow From Operations 2.7 4.5 (0.4)

Net Cash Flow From Investing (16.7) (6.2) 7.6

Net Cash Flow From Financing 20.0 (2.6) (4.4)

Ending Cash Balance 13.1 8.8 11.6

FINANcIAL PERFORMANcE
($ Million)

2010 2011 2012

Revenue 68.5 84.0 87.3

Gross Profit 20.3 21.2 20.4

Gross Margin 30% 25% 23%

Net Profit After Tax 10.4 5.4 1.2

After-Tax Profit Margin 15% 6% 1%

FINANcIAL POSITION
($ Million)

2010 2011 2012

Total Assets 155.1 118.1 112.5

Total Liabilities 70.3 38.2 32.5

Shareholders’ Equity 84.8 79.9 80.0

Net Current Assets 16.6 35.0 36.8

Cash & Equivalents 13.1 8.8 11.6
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2012 was an eventful year for Viking – one filled with both 
challenges and encouragement. We set out to improve 
traction on our existing business base and achieved mixed 
results; we targeted to complete our business transformation 
and clear out non-core businesses, and we did; we were 
determined to blaze a trail overseas and achieved more 
than encouraging results. 

Expanding our global footprint

With a war cry of “Internationalisation” for 2012, Viking 
sailed to international waters and claimed promising new 
territories. In all, the Group registered $30 million in overseas 
contracts, representing a 54% year-on-year growth 
compared to 2011. The proportion of overseas to local 
contracts stood at 55% for the Group in 2012 compared to 
30% for the prior year.

China remains our largest overseas market. Despite an 
unstable market environment, we achieved 43% year-on-
year growth and exceeded our expectation with a total of 
$14 million of contracts secured from Chinese yards and 
owners. Measuring on integration projects alone, excluding 
services and parts, China grew by 115% year-on-year. 
Compared to 35 the year before, we established business 
relationships with 44 Chinese yards.

With a promising outlook, we increased our headcount in 
our Shanghai and Nantong offices, and established small 
satellite operations out of Dalian, Yantai, and Guangzhou. 
Additionally, our high quality manufacturing fabrication 
facility at Yantai is now capable of meeting the demands of 
customers regardless of their geographical locations.

While the majority of Viking’s businesses in China are 
related to our more established HVAC&R systems, last year, 
we successfully expanded our China business and for the 
first time won contracts in our winch systems, fire and gas 
detection systems, and marine communication systems. 
We will supply the Chinese yards with 6 sets of hydraulic 
winches on a design and build-to-specification mode. Also 
for the first time, we witnessed our fire and gas detection 
systems and marine communication systems on Chinese 
soil.

Elsewhere around the world, we also opened encouraging 
new chapters and achieved many firsts in 2012. In Brazil, 
under a partnership with the largest rig builder in Singapore, 
we won contracts to supply fire and gas detection systems, 
marine communication systems, and tank gauging systems 
to the tune of $12 million to the largest oil and gas consortium 
in Brazil. In the process, we clean swept all the contracts 
awarded from the customer to the local yard in that product 
category. Encouraged by the new contracts and explosive 
market demands, Viking made its foray into Brazil with the 
successful setting up of our first local company.

In Australia, we supplied a series of mooring winch systems 
to one of the largest Australian infrastructure contractor with 
success. Together with the aggregated size of the contracts, 
it marked a significant step for Viking and provided us with 
a strong partnership with a locally recognized infrastructural 

RevIew of 
opeRAtIons
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contractor and built a solid foundation in the Australian 
market.

In Vietnam, we successfully completed the supply and 
integration project of HVAC&R, and fire and gas detection 
systems  for two semi-submersible rig platforms, a testament 
to our ability to deliver projects in new territories. This project 
was also the first two rigs ever built in a Vietnamese yard.

In another emerging market, Indonesia, Viking also marched 
its firm first step with the securement of multiple contracts 
worth almost $4 million to supply HVAC&R systems for 
accommodation barges. An added significance is the fact 
that this will be a full in-house designed and built explosion-
proof HVAC&R system. The amount of quality pipelines 
ahead grants us sizeable confidence in attaining greater 
success in Indonesia in the coming years. 

2012 – a challenging year

We are deeply encouraged by our overseas business 
growth. However, we also experienced less-than-expected 
domestic business performance, which affected our overall 
performance in 2012. 

In 2012, in line with our transformation strategy of investing 
in core offshore and marine businesses and divesting non-
core business operations, we disposed off the non-core retail 
beauty-care business. Though resulting in loss of revenue in 
the short term, there is no impact to the bottom line.

Factoring in the effect of the discontinued operation, profit 
before tax for the Group in 2012 recorded $1.0 million, down 
from $4.7 million the previous year. The overall profitability 
for year 2012 was affected by the lower gross profit, the 
absence of gains from bargain property acquisition, the 
disposal of quoted equities, and higher operating expenses 
compared to the previous year.

For the operating businesses, the Group recorded a total 
revenue of $87.3 million for the year, 4% higher than the 
previous year. The higher cost of project implementation 
for a series of local rig platform contracts, on top of overall 
intense competition in the industry, considerably tightened 
our profit margin, thus preventing our revenue growth from 
translating to higher profitability. As a result, gross profit 
declined 4% and gross profit margin declined 2% to 23%.

On the operational front, excluding one-time charges in 
both years, operating expenses for 2012 and 2011 are 
comparable with little difference. The amount recorded in 
the previous year was a one-time impairment charge on 
investment write-off.

Healthy cashflow and financial position

Net assets for the Group stood at $80.0 million, improving 
marginally compared to the corresponding period last year. 
Overall, working capital for the Group improved year-on-
year thanks to better turnover of inventory and receivables, 
as well as repayment of payment commitment out of 
proceeds from the disposal of quoted equities.
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Correspondingly, the positive cashflow from investing 
activities resulted in a higher cash balance of $11.6 million, 
compared to $8.8 million the year before. The better 
cashflow enabled the Group to pare down its outstanding 
loans and lower financing costs.

Transformation complete with the disposal of non-core 
businesses

The disposal of our non-core businesses in retail and 
distribution of consumer products will be completed within 
the first-half of 2013. Throughout the process, Viking 
adhered to the guiding principle of divesting responsibly, 
finding more suitable owners to ensure a smooth handover 
and a better future for the business.

Going forward, non-core businesses will no longer be a 
distraction for Viking and all resources will be geared toward 
growing Viking’s offshore and marine businesses.

Viking Airtech –mixed results

Viking Airtech’s business performance in 2012 was mixed. 
Exciting progress was achieved overseas, but domestic 
business lagged behind. Financial performance was affected 
by declining profit margin, primarily due to profitability 
issues in a series of nine rig platforms signed with a major 
yard. While Viking Airtech was able to complete almost half 
of the orders, under-sizing of the required efforts, together 
with increasing cost due to inflationary pressures led to cost 
overrun and affected profitability.

The company was further challenged by the shortage and 
soaring cost of human resources in the domestic market. 
Viking Airtech accelerated the pace of growth outside of 
Singapore to compensate the lackluster domestic business. 

Marshal Systems – stellar achievements

On a more positive note, Marshal Systems delivered strong 
results with a significant turnover and profit increase. 
Moreover, Marshal Systems secured noteworthy contracts 
in the overseas markets. We won contracts totaling $12 
million from the largest local yard in Singapore to deliver 
to the largest oil and gas consortium in Brazil over a three-
year period, a first time for both Marshal Systems and the 
Group. The package comprises of fire and gas detection 
systems, marine communication systems, and control and 
instrumentation systems. This win demonstrates Marshal 
System’s ability to meet high and exacting standards.

The company’s investment in on-ground sales and marketing 
operations started to see returns. In China, despite intense 
competition from both local and international players, 
Marshal Systems won over competition to supply fire 
and gas detection systems and marine communicating 
equipments, and weather monitoring systems. This first win 
in China was a boost to our growing China operation and 
will no doubt kick start its promising China business. 

Promoter Hydraulics – steady performance

While Promoter Hydraulics’ turnover remained flat compared 
to the year before; much was achieved besides the financial 

numbers. Firstly, turnover became more broad-based and 
achieved a better balance. Hence we can reach out to more 
customers which will translate to less earnings volatility.

Secondly, we successfully transformed from a stock-and-
sell business model and up-streamed to design and build-
to-specification winch systems. For the first time ever, we 
secured and successfully delivered a system fully designed 
and built by us to Chinese customers, a success on both 
geographical level and business model level.

Going forward in 2013

We will further caplitalise on our successful initiatives while 
in the meantime improve on those with less-than-expected 
returns. Project delivery in 2012 was less than satisfactory 
across certain projects, and we vouch to eradicate this 
deficiency. We will not only build up our order book backlog 
and business portfolio but also ensure it is profitable, broad-
based and sustainable.

Viking is fully aware of the intensified competition and 
tightening margins. To combat such tough external 
environment, Viking devised a two-pronged approach to 
achieve better profitability: firstly, to enhance productivity 
and better cost management; secondly, to differentiate our 
value in quality as opposed to pricing competition.

Human resources is another key to our future as the labour 
market in Singapore is tight and constant cost escalation. 
To defray cost as well as alleviate the tight labour scenario, 
Viking will allocate our business operations strategically 
and expanding overseas will continue to be a critical 
consideration in our 2013 plan.

Growing our overseas footprint will take on a new dimension. 
As our overseas businesses take off, we will explore 
opportunities to move certain labour-intensive operations 
overseas and to build competency centres around the 
region to meet demand, in addition to converting overseas 
opportunity pipelines into secured contracts. Such moves 
will alleviate our tight resource issues. Local resources will 
be in a better position to support domestic project delivery.

The encouraging internationalisation results marked the 
completion of our 3i-Strategy. We will continue this drive 
while embarking on our next step. As now a global O&M 
player, our strategy will align with our global business 
picture and strive for longer term results. Viking will 
continue exploring to acquire offshore and marine assets 
and monetise them to committed and predictable earning 
streams. This should not and will not take us off our focus in 
enhancing and growing our integrated service portfolio. We 
will share more of this new growth strategy as we progress 
along.

To wrap up, I want to thank our employees, business 
partners and all who have ridden along with us. In 2013, I 
look forward to your continuing support and partnership to 
make it a better year.

Ong choo Guan
Chief Executive Officer
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2012 foCus
InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon

We see expanding our businesses overseas as a key 
growth impetus. In 2012, we rallied our resources and 
focus into internationalising our business. The results 
of which has been more than encouraging.

Growing
Abroad

38% 6% 49% 30%74% 16% 81% 55%

2011

Viking
Airtech

MArshAl
systeMs

proMoter
hydrAulics totAl

2012 2011 20122011 2012 2011 2012

pRopoRtIon of oveRseAs ContRACts seCuRed 
CompARed to totAl ContRACt oRdeRs.

Viking
Airtech

MArshAl
systeMs

proMoter
hydrAulics totAl

85%110%34% 54%

GRowth of oveRseAs ContRACts seCuRed
2012 vs 2011
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Promoter Hydraulics supplied in its history 
the most tonnage of mooring winch system 
worth $5 million to major marine contractors 
in Australia for the Gorgon Jetty project and 
the Gladstone project.

Big
Down South

win
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Viking
dancing the

latin

Marshal Systems secured the largest 
contract in its history, worth close to $12 
million and spanning until 2016. Partnering 
with Singapore’s largest yard, Marshal 
Systems will supply fire and gas detection 
system, telecommunication system, and 
tank gauging system for 6 semi-submersible 
rigs to Petrobras, the largest oil and gas 
corporation in Brazil.

samba

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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largestfrom the

archipelago

Emerging

Viking Airtech achieved breakthrough in 
Indonesia with first win of turnkey HVAC&R 
integration project for 3 offshore platforms for 
the yard PT Gunanusa and owner Total E&P 
Myanmar. This is not only Viking Airtech’s 
first major order in Indonesia, but also its first 
order of explosion-proof HVAC&R system 
that is fully designed and built in-house.

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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Strong
growth

overseas market

in Viking’s

largest
Long established in China, Viking Airtech 
secured close to $10 million of integration 
projects, almost doubling the amount in 
2011. Additionally, Viking Airtech undertook 
its first turnkey HVAC&R system for 500-
man capacity offshore semi-submersible 
rig which was fully implemented in China, 
a testament to the growth capability of our 
China operations.

Marshal Systems won $2 million worth of 
contracts from COSCO to supply fire and gas 
detection system, control instrumentation 
and weather monitoring system for their 
tender barge. This trebled the amount in 2011 
and marked Marshal Systems’ successful 
foray into China.
 
Also for the first time, Promoter Hydraulics 
secured a contract for winch system to be 
designed and built in-house for a Chinese 
yard. Shortly after, Promoter Hydraulics 
won another two orders from two yards 
respectively, signifying a successful start and 
momentum.

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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Malaysia
opens doors

to Viking

Viking Airtech secured an order from a Middle-
East customer to implement  HVAC&R system 
for the customer’s two navy support vessels 
in its Malaysia yard. The implementation was 
successfully completed, which also wrote a 
significant page in Viking’s history as this was 
the first HVAC&R system implemented by 
Viking Airtech on a navy support vessel, and 
also the first system designed and built in our 
China Yantai fabrication facility with our own 
technology and products.

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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Viking Airtech and Marshal Systems 
successfully delivered and fulfilled their 
commitment to the Vietnamese yard PVMS. 
While we witnessed our first win and 
successful implementation in Vietnam, this 
was also the first rig ever built in a Vietnamese 
yard.

Promoter Hydraulics’ winch system was also 
for the very first time deployed in Vietnam 
for Saipem and Triyard. Also worth noticing 
was that the winch system was creatively 
and successfully used for ship launching and 
top-side launching activities.

Vietnam
witnessed

delivery

success

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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Marshal Systems made its first agency 
appointment in South Korea and secured a 
telecommunication package contract from 
Samsung Heavy Industries. Considering 
Korea’s renown for electronics technology 
superiority and largest shipbuilders, Marshal 
Systems’ early success is encouraging, 
especially for the large amount of opportunity 
pipelines down the road in such a major 
shipbuilding market.

Viking
making headway

Asian
technology giants

 in the land of

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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Viking
successfully

navigates the

Middle-East
markets

After a number of small orders in 
2012, Promoter Hydraulics achieved 
a breakthrough in early 2013 with the 
securement of a significant contract to 
deliver $3 million worth of winching gear to 
Turkey for a vessel top-side lifting project. 
This win is the first for Promoter Hydraulics 
in Turkey and a propellent for the year and 
the future in the Middle-East market.

2012 foCus InteRnAtIonAlIsAtIon
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2012 
BRAndInG

Vision

Defining Success in the offshore and marine Industry

Mission

we optimise solutions by Connecting offshore  
and marine specialists

Value Proposition

Fulfilling Your Expectations

Brand Values

Care
(people are our core assets)

unity
(sharing experiences and knowledge as one)

Excellence
(delivering performance)

Tagline

enabling performance in the high seas

In the final piece of the Integration, we engaged StrategiCom to conduct a Branding exercise to realign and re-
mission all business units to ensure one common vision, congruent missions among the business units with a set of 
shared values and with clear value propositions articulatd.

33   Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Many of the region’s biggest shipyards and vessel 
owners prefer Viking Airtech because we deliver 
reliable HVAC&R solutions. In line with our mission of 
providing comprehensive and specialised HVAC&R 
solutions, our services include customised design, 
engineering, manufacturing, installation, supervision, 
testing and commissioning of HVAC&R systems for 
the global offshore and marine industry.

As specialists in creating optimal environmental 
conditions at sea regardless of location through our 
HVAC&R systems, we ensure your optimal living and 
working environment.

A strong global sales and service network across five 
continents enables us to respond to service queries 
promptly anywhere in the world and to provide high 
quality service and support. This is a reflection of our 
commitment to our customers and principals.

vIkInG 
AIRteCh

• Strong endorsement from renowned equipment 
supplier – more than 12 years of authorised sole-
dealership and service station for Carrier marine 
products.

• Employs cutting-edge technology in areas of 
energy-efficient, eco-friendly, explosion proof and 
ruggedised systems.

• Comprehensive range of solutions to meet varied 
customer requirements – air to water-cooled, direct 
expansion to chill water systems, conventional 
packaged units to centralised mega chilledwater 
systems.

• Designed and built for customers who work 
under extreme ambient temperatures. Capable 
of meeting NORSOK and European standards, 
Middle-Eastern, Russian and Asian ambient 
conditions. More than 10 years Det Norske Veritas 
(DNV) certified quality management system.
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mIssIon

we provide comprehensive and 
specialised hvAC&R solutions for 
the offshore and marine industry

vAlue pRoposItIon

ensuring optimal living and 
working environment

optImIsInG envIRonment At seA

35   Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



mARshAl 
systems

Marshal is a leading systems integrator preferred 
by internationally-renowned companies in the 
offshore and marine industry. Marshal provides 
telecommunications, fire and gas detection, and 
control and instrumentation systems with seamless 
connectivity onboard offshore and marine structures.

Customers are assured that their assets are protected 
when equipped with systems integrated by Marshal’s 
specialists. Superior systems integration capabilities 
combined with specialised equipment and systems 
by leading manufacturers is the reason why Marshal is 
preferred by leading offshore and marine companies 
globally.

At Marshal Systems, we provide you with the peace 
of mind of knowing that your valuable assets are 
safeguarded at all times.

• Every Marshal Systems’ solution is designed, 
engineered and built using tested and proven 
components from globally-renowned brands.

• Wide connectivity and interoperability with other 
subsystems allows for efficient and centralised 
command and control. Ability to supply standalone 
items that complement customers’ third party 
solutions or complete end-to-end systems.

• Efficient and effective use of mechanical, electrical 
and electronics systems designed to maximise 
value. Made with multiple redundancies mechanism 
to minimise risk of single point of failure.
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mIssIon

we provide integrated systems 
in fire and gas detection, 
telecom, and control and 
instrumentation for the offshore 
and marine industry

vAlue pRoposItIon

safeguarding your assets

pRoteCtInG offshoRe & mARIne GIAnts
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pRomoteR 
hydRAulICs

Internationally-renowned vessel owners, marine 
project contractors and integrators trust Promoter 
as we make it a point to deliver on our promise of 
speeding up your offshore and marine projects.

Due to our depth of product availability, we have the 
ability to efficiently design and engineer customised 
systems along with fabricating and assembling them 
into finished products.

Promoter offers flexibility and affordability with our 
range of services that include commissioning, turnkey 
projects, load testing, maintenance and procurement 
management. Our promise to customers globally is to 
provide customised deck machinery to speed up their 
offshore and marine projects.

• We are the largest supplier of hydraulic winches 
and power packs in S.E. Asia. Together with our 
air and electric winches, we offer a comprehensive 
suite of products for this product category.

• Every winch manufactured incorporates 
technologies from various reputable European 
suppliers.

• We pride ourselves as a leading provider with the 
widest range of load capacity capability equipment

 from 10 to 200 ton winches in single drum, 
double drum and water fall models in available 
stock. 

 from 30KW – 300KW power packs with diesel 
engine and electric motor driven configuration.
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mIssIon

we provide customised deck 
machinery for the offshore and 
marine industry

vAlue pRoposItIon

speeding up your offshore and 
marine projects

lIftInG & pullInG solutIons
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2016201420122010 2015201320112009

invest

operate

divest

Asset-based offerings

Viking innovation centre

collaborative technology solutions

offshore and Marine engineering and systems services

self-use facility

FMcg distribution 

Beauty-care retail

Quoted equity portfolio

2013 GoInG foRwARd

Viking Business Transformation and 
Expansion Milestones and Roadmap

In 2010, we started acquiring and integrating 
engineering and system services companies in the 
offshore and marine industry. In the same year, we 
also started the divestment of the legacy businesses 
and assets which were non-core to our new business 
direction. By mid-2013, we expect to complete the 
divestment of the non-core businesses. With the 
completion of Viking’s transformation into a global 
offshore and marine player, we thereafter embarked 
on our expansion phase. 

During this phase of expansion, Viking will seek 
new avenues to enlarge and diversify our portfolio, 
therefore building a more predictable, profitable, and 
sustainable business. As part of our new horizon plan, 
we hinge on three broad strategic initiatives:

1. Turn footprints into footholds, and then into 
strongholds

2. Collaborate for advanced technologies to expand 
solution offerings

3. Develop earning streams through asset-based 
offerings
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collaborate 
Technology Solutions

Viking will seek out complementary technologies and 
industry solutions to provide customers with a more 
comprehensive service offering package. To optimize 
cost and resources, this will be pursued in the form of 
collaboration where the Group will enter into agency 
representation or alliance partnership with solution 
providers to offer such complementary and on-
demand components.

Such collaboration initiatives have already started 
and we are currently in active search for the following 
complementary solutions: fire-fighting solutions to 
complement Viking Airtech’s HVAC&R solution, chains 
and cables to package Promoter Hydraulics’ winches, 
additional electronic technologies to expand Marshal 
Systems’ solution chain.

In doing so, we can expand our offerings and portfolio 
without incurring fixed infrastructural costs, and 
manage solution gaps in a cost-effective way. In turn, 
the Group will achieve a new level of competitiveness 
by ably satisfying customers’ requirements.

                Enlarge Offering Base 

                            Plug Solution Gap 

                           Extend Competitive Edge

                    Secure new footprints
                   Turn footprints into 

             footholds 
                       Convert footholds into 

                               strongholds

2013 GoInG foRwARd
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Our encouraging success overseas thus far, coupled 
with the increasingly challenging labour situation 
domestically, reinforced our strategy to expand 
overseas and explore new territories.

Riding the momentum, we will solidify our presence in 
these new markets and increase our customer base. 
We will reinforce these relationships and turn such 
footprints to footholds.

At the same time, we will also target new country 
markets which were not fully pursued given the 
Group’s limited resource bandwidth. Some of these 
new territories include India, other Middle-Eastern 
countries, and European prospects. In addition to 
geographical expansion, the Group also welcomes 
exploration on non-traditional platforms to add to our 
portfolio.

                    Secure new footprints
                   Turn footprints into 

             footholds 
                       Convert footholds into 

                               strongholds

Expand 
Internationalisation to 
Globalisation

2013 GoInG foRwARd
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Our transformation realised our evolution from a 
distribution and retail business in consumer products 
to an engineering and system-based service provider 
in the offshore and marine industry. The next-step 
growth plan will bring in asset ownership and allow us 
to offer asset-based services.

Building of the Viking Innovation Centre was the 
first step of this growth plan. We creatively took an 
existing real estate asset to attract space rental of 
growing small and medium enterprises in the offshore 
and marine industry. The centre will also house a 
dormitory space for better utilisation, at the same time 
helping alleviate the high and unfulfilled demand of 
living quarters for staff.

Continuing in the offshore and marine industry and 
attempting to move up the value chain, we will look into 
partnership with experienced operators in acquiring 
offshore and marine assets and packaging them into 
asset-based offerings to customers. Given the current 
shake out in the shipbuilding yard business, there are 
opportunities to acquire such assets with an attractive 
proposition. Together with the attractive cost equation, 
the continued buoyant demand for offshore services 
strongly suggests that this is an opportune time to 
invest for our next horizon growth initiative. 

This additional new business portfolio going forward 
will allow us to own assets and earn a more stable, 
predictable, and profitable longer-term stream. It will 
also pave the way for us to move up the value chain 
from a fringed engineering service group to become 
an asset owner.

Develop Asset-Based 
Offerings

       Building a Portfolio of

stream earnings 

that are predictable, 

    profitable 

and sustainable

2013 GoInG foRwARd
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Corporate Governance Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

INTRODUCTION

Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (“VOM” or the “Company” or the “Group”) is firmly committed to observing and 
maintaining high standards of corporate governance in compliance with the principles and guidelines set out in the 
Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (“Code”). The Company believes that its corporate conduct and growth must 
be supported by well-defined policies, transparent and consistent processes, a system of stringent internal checks 
and controls, and accountability.

Guided by the Code, VOM adheres and apply them in both substance and form, and continually seek to modify, 
improve and keep current to its ever-changing business dynamics. The Company believes that only in doing 
so, Shareholders’ interests are safeguarded, and the Company is better able to deliver its longer-term strategic 
commitments of maximizing Shareholder value and returns.

To attain this aim, our well-diversified and qualified Board Members work closely with our experienced Management 
personnel, drawing upon close adherence to the principles and guidelines prescribed in the Code, and other 
applicable rules and regulations.

This Report sets out our corporate governance framework and practices with specific reference to guidelines set 
out in the Code.

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively 
responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this and the 
Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board sets the benchmark and is responsible for VOM’s corporate governance standards and policies. Its 
leadership responsibilities entail oversight on the Group’s business performance and operating and financial affairs, 
providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting its strategic direction and performance objectives, and setting long 
term goals for VOM and high standards of corporate governance. Specifically, the principal functions of the Board 
are to:

1. Approve the corporate direction and strategy of the Company and monitor the performance of the 
Management;

2. Approve the nomination of directors and appointment of key managerial personnel;

3. Approve the annual budget, major funding proposals and investment proposals, and ensuring the necessary 
financial and human resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

4. Establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enable risks to be properly assessed and 
managed;

5. Review the financial performance and necessary reporting compliance;
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6. Set Company values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are 
understood and met; and

7. Assume responsibility for corporate governance.

Each director brings his skills, expertise, experience, insights and sound judgment to the Board, and individually 
and collectively, considers and acts in the best interest of VOM and its Shareholders at all times. Whilst doing so, 
the Board also sees to it that Management conducts business and affairs of the VOM Group with integrity and 
enterprise, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and with the ultimate aim of enhancing Shareholder 
value and achieving sustainable growth for the VOM Group. As at 31 December 2012, the composition of the Board 
is as follows:

1. Mr Andy Lim, Chairman and Executive Director
2. Mr Ong Choo Guan, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
3. Mr Daniel Lin Wei, Executive Director
4. Mr Woo Peng Kong, Non-Executive Director
5. Mr Lien Kait Long, Independent Director
6. Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng, Independent Director
7. Mr Lee Suan Hiang, Independent Director

Delegation of Authority on certain Board Matters

To assist the Board to effectively discharge its oversight duties and functions, it delegates specific areas of 
responsibilities to three Board Committees namely; the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee, and the 
Remuneration Committee, each of which is governed by clear terms of reference which have been approved by the 
Board. Minutes of all Board Committee meetings are circulated to Board members so that they are kept abreast 
of proceedings and matters discussed at such meetings. To address and manage possible conflicts of interest 
that may arise between Directors’ interests and those of the Group, the Company has put in place appropriate 
procedures including requiring such Directors to refrain from participating in meetings or discussions (or relevant 
segments thereof), in addition to abstaining from voting, on any matter in which they are so interested or conflicted.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operations to the management while reserving key matters for Board 
approval. Key functions include approving the consolidated financial statements for the Group, conflict of interest 
checks for directors, disposal of assets, strategic planning and material acquisitions, share issuances, dividends, 
and matters which require Board approval as specified under the Company’s Interested Person Transaction Policy.

In addition, the Company also appoints each Director to the Chairman position of the key subsidiaries. These are 
non-executive appointment and serves as the conduit between the Company’s Board and the subsidiary’s Board 
primarily for oversight in performance management as well as ensuring additional covers for corporate governance. 
As at 31 December 2012, the Directors holding Chairman appointment at the subsidiary Board are:

1. Mr Lee Suan Hiang, Chairman of Viking Airtech Pte Ltd
2. Mr Woo Peng Kong, Chairman of Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd
3. Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng, Chairman of Marshal Systems Pte Ltd
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Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Board convenes regularly for scheduled meetings and any ad-hoc meetings are arranged when required; to 
review the key activities, financial performance, business plans, corporate strategies, potential acquisitions and 
divestments, and significant operational and/or management matters of the Group. During Board meetings, our 
Directors actively participate, discuss, deliberate and appraise the matters requiring its attention and decision. If 
Directors are unable to attend Board meetings physically, such meetings may be conducted via telephone, video 
conference or any other form of electronic or instantaneous communications.

The Directors, who are also Chairman of the subsidiary’s Board are given direct and full access to the Management 
team of the Group’s three main subsidiaries through scheduled monthly subsidiary Board meetings.

The number of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings held in the current financial year and the 
attendance of Directors at these meetings are as follows:

Attendance of Board Members Board
Audit 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Meetings held during the financial year ended 
31 December 2012 5 4 1 1

Mr Andy Lim 5 NA NA NA

Mr Ong Choo Guan 5 NA NA NA

Mr Daniel Lin Wei (1) 4 NA 1 1

Mr Woo Peng Kong (2) 5 NA NA NA

Mr Lien Kait Long 5 4 NA 1

Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng 5 4 1 1

Mr Lee Suan Hiang 5 4 1 NA

Notes:

(1) Mr Daniel Lin Wei was redesignated from a Non-Executive Director to an Executive Director with effect from 
1 May 2012. Accordingly, he stepped down from the Remuneration Committee on the same day. 

(2) Mr Woo Peng Kong was redesignated from an Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director on 1 October 
2012. 

Upon appointment, each new Director is put through an orientation program to familiarise new Directors with the 
Group’s business activities, strategic directions, policies, major impending projects as well as corporate governance 
practices of the Group. In addition, new Directors are also encouraged to attend the relevant courses and programs 
from the Singapore Institute of Directors (“SID”) to be acquainted with the role and responsibilities of a director in 
the context of a listed company.

Directors are continually and regularly updated on the Group’s businesses and the regulatory and industry-specific 
environments in which the entities of the Group operate. Updates on relevant legal, regulatory and accounting 
developments may be in writing or disseminated by way of briefings or presentations. In addition, the Audit 
Committee Chairman will regularly keep the Board abreast of changes and development within the accounting 
and financial reporting areas. During the year, briefings were also conducted for the Board and some directors 
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also attended external briefings on the director’s disclosure obligations, recent developments in the laws on insider 
trading, and the proposed changes to Code by the regulators. The Company also encourages the Directors to be 
members of the SID, and for them to receive regular journal updates and training from SID to stay abreast and be 
apprised of developments in financial, legal, regulatory requirements, and the business environment.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgment on 
corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals should 
be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board comprises seven members, with Independent Directors more than one-third composition of the Board. 
The Company conducts an annual review of the size and composition of the Board to ensure that both aspects 
continue to meet the needs of the Group in managing the business as well as maintaining a strong independent 
element within the composition of the Board. The Board will continuously review this with a view to enhance 
corporate governance practices in tandem to proposed changes to the Code.

The Nominating Committee is of the view that the current size and composition is appropriate and conducive to the 
scope and nature of the Group’s business, and for facilitating effective exchanges and decision making. The Board 
proactively seeks to maintain a balanced mix of experiences, competences, and attributes among the Directors, 
and this is reflected in the diversity of the Board composition in terms of background and competencies. Such 
experiences and competencies include finance and accounting, sales and marketing, strategic planning, investment 
management, and other relevant industry knowledge, entrepreneurial and management experience, and familiarity 
with regulatory requirements and risk management. The Management is provided with full and direct access to the 
Board which also actively provides guidance and a broad range of views and perspectives.

There exists active participation and engagement among the Directors in often dynamic and stimulating exchanges 
of views and opinions at both the Committee and Board meetings. The Directors make decisions using their 
collective wisdom and exercise their individual opinions whilst at all times acting in the best interest of the Group. 
No individual or group within the Board dominates or is able to dominate the discussion process and decision 
making. The Non-executive Directors also meet regularly without Management’s presence to discuss matters such 
as the Board’s effectiveness and Management’s performance. As and when required, the Non-executive Directors 
are also invited to participate to review and deliberate with Management on the Group’s business culture, plans and 
long-term strategies. In addition, the Non-executive Directors also actively monitor and provide guidance to the 
Group’s subsidiaries through their appointment as Non-executive Chairman of the subsidiaries.

On an annual basis, the Directors are each required to provide information on their current shareholding interests, 
areas of conflicts (if any), directorship in other companies; and declare their independence (for Independent 
Directors) and time commitment towards discharging of their responsibilities. The Nominating Committee will 
determine the independence of each Director based on the definitions and guidelines of independence set out in 
the Code. In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Nominating Committee is satisfied with the 
independent status of the Independent Directors and the independent element on the Board is maintained.

The duties and responsibilities of the executive directors are clearly set out in their service agreements. The 
Company has an on-going budget for all directors to receive relevant training. Board members are encouraged to 
attend seminars and receive training in connection with their duties as directors in areas such as accounting and 
legal knowledge, particularly on latest developments to relevant laws, regulations and accounting standards.
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Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board and the 
executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that 
no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) positions are held by separate individuals. This is so that 
an appropriate balance of power and authority, with clear divisions of responsibilities and accountability, can be 
attained. This segregation of roles also facilitates a healthy, open exchange of views and opinions between the 
Board and Management in their deliberation of the business, strategic plans and key activities of the Company. The 
Chairman is not related to the CEO.

The Chairman bears the primary responsibility for the workings of the Board, ensuring its effective function and 
sets its agenda. He also ensures that the Board meetings are held whenever necessary; the Directors receive 
accurate, clear and timely information, encourages constructive relations between management and the Board, as 
well as between Executive and non-Executive Directors and facilitates the effective contribution of non-executive 
Directors; and ensures effective communication with shareholders. The Chairman also plays an instrumental role 
in charting corporate directions and strategies, developing business for the Group and providing the Group with 
strong leadership and vision.  He is responsible for promoting high standards of corporate governance.

The CEO is primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the operations and performance of the 
Group; and reports to the Board on the Group’s operations and performance. He has overall responsibility for the 
organisational effectiveness and the implementation of policies and decisions of the Board. The CEO works closely 
with the Chairman on formulating the Group’s operational strategies and matters to be tabled at the Board level.

The presence of a strong, independent and active participation of the Independent Directors ensures the proper 
functioning of the Board and good check and balance. All major decisions made by the Chairman and CEO are 
reviewed by the Audit Committee. Their performance and appointment to the Board is reviewed by the Nominating 
Committee and their remuneration packages are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically. Both the 
Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee comprise the Non-Executive Directors. As such, the Board 
believes that there are adequate safety measures in place against an uneven concentration of power and authority, 
and Chairman and CEO do not have unfettered powers of decisions.

Principle 4: Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board.

Nominating Committee

The majority (being two-thirds) of the members of this Committee, including the Chairman, are independent non-
executive Directors. The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises:

1. Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director Chairman
2. Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng Independent Director Member
3. Mr Daniel Lin Wei Executive Director Member
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The NC is guided by the Terms of Reference approved by the Board and set out the duties and responsibilities of 
this committee. The NC’s principal functions are to:

1. Establish procedures for and make recommendations to the Board on all Board and Committees 
appointments;

2. Determine orientation programs for new Directors, and recommend opportunities for the continued training of 
the Directors;

3.  Review and make recommendations to the Board for the re-nomination of Directors, taking into consideration 
the individual director’s contribution and performance. The NC is able to determine if a Director has 
adequately and is able to continue carrying out his/her duties as a director of the Company. Internal 
guidelines have been set in place to address the competing time commitments faced when directors serve 
on multiple boards;

4. Assess a Director’s independence annually, bearing in mind the relevant provisions of the Code and all other 
salient factors;

5. Review the size and composition of the Board with the objective of achieving a balanced Board with a proper 
mix of experience and expertise;

6. Recommend to the Board the performance criteria and processes for appraisals to be used for the evaluation 
of individual Directors, as well as the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The criteria and processes are 
subject to the Board’s approval; and

7. Review the appointment of relatives of directors and/or substantial shareholders to managerial positions.

In its annual review, the NC evaluates and affirms the independent status of the directors having considered the 
guidelines set out in the Code. The NC has confirmed the status of the non-executive Directors of the Company as 
follows:

1. Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent
2.  Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng Independent
3.  Mr Lien Kait Long Independent
4.  Mr Woo Peng Kong Non-Executive 

Although some of the Directors have multiple Board memberships, the NC has considered and is satisfied that each 
of them is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a Director of the Company.

The Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”) provides that at least one-third of its Directors shall retire from 
office and are subject to re-election at every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). All Directors are required to retire 
from office at least once every three years. The NC is satisfied that the Directors who are retiring in accordance with 
the Articles at the forthcoming AGM are properly qualified for re-appointment by virtue of their skills, experience 
and contribution. Newly appointed Directors must also submit themselves for retirement and re-election at the next 
AGM immediately following their appointment. The shareholders approve the appointment or re-appointment of 
Board members at the AGM.
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Description of Nominating Process of New Directors

The search and nominating process for new directors involves a review of the existing size and composition of 
the Board. In such reviews, the NC endeavours to ensure that the size of the Board is adequate and not unwieldy 
to interfere with efficiency in decision-making; and the composition of the Board is appropriately diverse with 
views and opinions for discussion and decision-making. The NC considers factors such as the ability of the 
potential candidate to contribute to discussions, deliberations and activities of the Board. In addition, the relevant 
experience, qualification, competence and attributes of the prospective candidates were evaluated in considering 
their appointment to the Board. In doing so, where necessary and appropriate, the NC may rely on its networking 
contacts and/or recommendations from fellow Board members to assist with identifying and short listing of 
candidates.

Key Information regarding Directors

Key information of the Board members is set out in the “Board of Directors” section of this Annual Report.

Principle 5: Board Performance

There should be formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each 
director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board has established and implemented a formal process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board 
collectively and individually. Annually, the NC will lead the Board effectiveness review through an open face-to-
face meeting where each predetermined attribute and criteria is discussed and challenged rigorously to reach a 
consensus on the assessment. Each of the attributes will be scored and instances are cited to demonstrate and 
substantiate against each attribute score as evidential support. Quantitative and qualitative factors are considered 
in developing the attributes which includes areas of evaluation with respect to Board functions, Board meetings, 
Board structure and communication. In addition, the Board is also measured on its effectiveness in formulating 
strategic plans for the Management and monitoring the progress and performance against the set objectives. The 
Board committees are also evaluated for their effectiveness against their respective terms of reference.

When considering the re-appointment of any director, the NC evaluates the performance of the director, with the 
aim of determining the director’s ability to continue to contribute effectively and demonstrate commitment to the 
role. This assessment will be done on an annual basis. The criteria adopted in the assessment includes whether 
the director will continue to demonstrate commitment to the role (including commitment of time for Board and 
Committee meetings, intensity of participation at meetings and special contributions). The Chairman reviews and 
acts on the results of the performance evaluation, and where appropriate, propose new members be appointed to 
the Board or seek the resignation of directors, in consultation with the NC. 

Corporate Governance Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

52 Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 
information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

In order for the Board to make an informed decision and to facilitate meaningful deliberated discussions during 
meetings of the Board and Board Committees, Management provides the Board with adequate and timely 
information on matters which require the Board’s decision or approval, or which the Board should have knowledge 
of. These include reports relating to the financial and operational performance of the Company, which are circulated 
to the Board prior to its meetings. Information provided also include background or explanatory information relating 
to matters to be brought before the Board, copies of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and monthly 
internal financial statements. In respect of budgets, any material variance between the projections and actual results 
should also be disclosed and explained. For decisions and/or resolutions required on major business plans, the 
Management provides the Board with detailed Board papers, specifying relevant information and justifications 
for each proposal for which the Board approval is sought. Such information include relevant historical financial 
information coupled with future forecasts, opportunities and risk analyses, mitigation plans, and other key integral 
commercial issues requiring Board focus.

The Board receives from Senior Management quarterly management accounts which present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. Besides the provision of such 
information to the Board, Senior Management also conduct presentations to discuss the information and encourage 
active exchanges of views and sharing. The Board also delegates the monthly in-depth review and monitoring of 
the Group and subsidiary’s performance to the respective appointed Non-executive Chairman of the subsidiary. 
Monthly meetings are held whereby the Senior Management will present and review monthly performance and 
associated results.

Attendance of Senior Management is also required at Board meetings to discuss business units’ performances and 
outlook, challenges, future key business initiatives, and provide additional insights into matters being discussed 
or respond to queries arising out of these meetings. In addition to Board meetings, the Board also has separate, 
independent and direct access to the Company’s executive management team and the Company Secretary. The 
Audit Committee members are also provided uninterrupted access to the Company’s Corporate Sponsor, External 
and Internal Auditors. Some of the Directors, including Independent Directors are appointed Chairman of the 
Group’s subsidiaries; and in this regard able to keep current and be appraised of the developments within the 
subsidiaries and the Group.

The Company Secretary, and/or her representatives, attends all Board meetings, ensures that Board procedures 
are complied with, and provides guidance on corporate governance, and on legal and statutory compliance. Under 
the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary ensures that Board procedures and applicable rules and 
regulations are complied with. She also acts as a channel of communications for information flow and dissemination 
to and within the Board and its Committees, as well as between senior Management and non-executive Directors, 
and consolidates Directors’ feedback and evaluation.

The minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to the Board for review. The Directors have separate and 
independent access to the Company Secretary. The Board reviews and determines the appointment and removal 
of the Company Secretary. The Directors, whether collectively or individually, may, at the expense of the Company, 
seek and obtain independent professional advice necessary to discharge their duties effectively.

Corporate Governance Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

53Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Policy for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration Committee

There is a formal and transparent procedure in place for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of each Director. Directors are not involved in deciding their own remuneration.  The 
Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprise entirely of non-executive Directors, the majority of whom, including the 
Chairman, are Independent Directors. The RC also provides oversight on executive Management’s remuneration 
packages and policy framework. The RC comprises of the following members:

1. Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng Independent Director Chairman
2.  Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director Member
3.  Mr Lien Kait Long Independent Director Member

The principal duties and responsibilities of the RC are to: 

a. Recommend for the entire Board’s approval an appropriate framework for remuneration (including but 
not limited to director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, and benefits in kind), and specific 
remuneration packages, of the Board and senior management to ensure that it is competitive and sufficient 
to attract, retain and motivate personnel of the required quality;

b. Determine the policy for establishing the remuneration packages for executive directors and the CEO (or 
equivalent) and review the service contracts of such employees;

c.  Review the performance of key senior managers to enable the committee to determine their annual 
remuneration, bonus rewards, etc.

d.  Ensure accountability and transparency in the Company’s policies and procedures when determining the 
remuneration of the Directors and senior management; and

e.  Review all matters concerning the remuneration of non-executive directors to ensure that the remuneration is 
commensurate with the contribution and responsibilities of the directors.

The RC reviews the performance objectives (including weightage between quantitative financial performance figures 
as well as qualitative business development and management attributes). Directors’ fees are set according to 
remuneration framework. All non-executive Directors are paid Directors’ fees, subject to approval at the AGM. 

The RC may, from time to time, and where necessary or required, seek advice from external consultants in 
designing the remuneration framework and policies, and fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors 
and executive Management of the Company. This is to ensure that competitive compensation and progressive 
policies, with appropriate mix of short and long term incentives, are in place to attract, retain and motivate 
competent and committed Management.
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Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to run the 
company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant 
proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and 
individual performance.

In making its recommendations to the Board on the level and mix of remuneration, the Remuneration Committee 
seeks to be competitive in order to attract, motivate and retain high-performing executives to drive the Group’s 
businesses whilst operating within the Group’s risk parameters, so as to maximise long-term shareholder value. In its 
deliberation of remuneration level and mix, the RC takes into consideration industry practices and benchmarks against 
relevant industry players as well as comparable positional responsibilities to ensure that its remuneration practices are 
competitive. The Company adopts a performance-driven and meritocratic approach to compensation, with rewards 
linked to individual and corporate performance to align interests of Management with those of Shareholders.

The Company’s remuneration framework comprises a fixed component in the form of a basic salary, a variable 
component linked to the performance of the individual and the Company, and a long-term incentive. The executive 
Director’s and executive Management’s service contract is for a fixed period (average and mostly on a 3-year term) 
which is not excessively long. It also does not contain onerous removal clauses and the notice period is three months.

Long Term Incentive Plans

The RC also administers the Company’s share-based remuneration incentive plans; namely, the Viking Long Term 
Incentive Plan (“VLTP”), and the Viking Offshore and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”).

Through the VLTP and ESOS, the Company aims to foster a greater ownership culture within the Group by more 
directly aligning the interests and rewards of key executives with the interest of the shareholders, and to participate 
and share in the Group’s growth and success.

Under the terms of the ESOS and VLTP, all employees of the Group companies are eligible to participate in the 
incentive scheme, the Company plans to use these incentive schemes towards the remuneration mix of senior 
Management and senior executives. This will afford the Company greater flexibility and effectiveness in designing 
compensation packages in its efforts to attract, motivate and retain valued talented senior executives and to also 
reward them for the performance of the Company and that of the individual.

While the Company intends to use ESOS towards efforts to retain talented senior executives and Management, 
the VLTP is geared towards motivating senior executives and Management towards achievement of target-based 
performance objectives. The VLTP targets senior management in key positions who shoulder the responsibility 
of the Company’s performance as well as influence the growth and performance of the Company through high 
performance. It also serves as motivation to key senior Management in delivering high performance and aligning to 
enhancing longer-term shareholder value.

Under the VLTP, most of the grants of shares award will be conditional upon the achievement of pre-determined 
and agreed performance targets for the year for the individuals or collective group of individuals. Such share award 
is expected to be vested and exercised over a two or three year period depending on the quantum of shares award. 
These shares awards represent individual’s right to receive fully-paid shares of the Company when and if their 
predetermined conditions have been met. The number of shares to be released will vary with the achievement level 
of the individual employee.
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In using the ESOS towards the retention of talented employees, the grants of option award is made based on 
the retention value assessed on the individual on whom the options were granted. There are no predetermined 
performance targets on which the award is conditional upon, these options are expected to vest after twelve (12) 
months and exercisable within sixty (60) months from date of grant. 

The maximum number of Company’s shares which can be released under the combined limits of both the VLTP and 
ESOS will not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

Details of employee share schemes which include, size of grants, methodology of valuing stock options, exercise 
price of options that were granted as well as outstanding, whether the exercise price was at the market or 
otherwise on the date of grant and vesting schedule are disclosed in the Directors’ Report and the notes to financial 
statements in this Annual Report.

Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the 
procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its 
remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key 
executives, and performance.

Remuneration of Directors and Key Executives

The remuneration of Directors and the key executives (who are not also Directors) of the Group, is set out below.

Directors’ Remuneration

Directors Fee Salary Bonus Allowance

Between $500,001 and $750,000

Mr Andy Lim - 79% 8% 13%

Between $250,001 and $500,000

Mr Ong Choo Guan - 89% 4% 7%

Mr Woo Peng Kong (1) 6% 82% 6% 6%

Less than $250,000

Mr Lien Kait Long 100% - - -

Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng 100% - - -

Mr Lee Suan Hiang 100% - - -

Mr Daniel Lin Wei (2) 14% 80% 6% -

Notes:

(1) Mr Woo Peng Kong was redesignated from an Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director on 1 October 
2012.

(2) Mr Daniel Lin Wei was redesignated from a Non-Executive Director to an Executive Director on 1 May 2012. 

The director fees for all the Directors are pro-rated according to their appointment date for the year.
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The remuneration of the top 5 executives that are not Directors of the Company falls within the following 
remuneration band:  

Top 5 Executives’ Remuneration

Number of Executives Fee Salary Bonus Allowance

Between $250,001 and $500,000

Ng Yeau Chong - 88% 9% 3%

Tay Mong Seng - 83% 12% 5%

Low Jooi Kok - 82% 10% 8%

Less than $250,000

Ong Li Yi Jason - 88% 8% 4%

Peh Chee Oon - 100% - -

Save as disclosed above, there are no employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO, and 
whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the year.

Directors’ Fees

The remuneration of non-executive Directors takes into account their level and quality of contribution and their 
respective responsibilities, including committees’ appointment holder, attendance and time spent at Board and/or 
Committee meetings. Directors are paid basic and attendance fees for attending Board meetings. Non-executive 
Directors who serve on the respective Board Committees are paid additional basic and attendance fees for such 
services. Directors who assume Chairmanship appointment at the subsidiary level are paid an advisory fee by 
the subsidiary for performing such services. The Directors’ fees are pro-rated according to their appointment and 
retirement date for the year, where applicable. No Director decides his own fees. Our current Board fee structure is 
set out below.

Fees ($)

Board of Directors

•	 Non-Executive	Directors 20,000

•	 Attendance	at	Board	Meetings 1,000

Board Committees

•	 Audit	Committee	Chairman 12,000

•	 Audit	Committee	Member 6,000

•	 Nominating	Committee	Chairman 10,000

•	 Remuneration	Committee	Chairman 10,000

•	 Nominating	/	Remuneration	Committee	Member 5,000

Subsidiary Board

•	 Non-Executive	Chairman 30,000

To ensure competitiveness, the Company conducts periodic reviews of Directors’ remuneration to benchmark its 
Directors’ fees against the amounts paid by other comparable listed companies. Following the review, it is proposed 
that the current fee structure and quantum remain unchanged.
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It remains the practice of the Company to pay Directors’ fees throughout the year during their respective tenure of 
service. In this regard, the Company will be seeking shareholders’ approval at the AGM of the Company on 26 April 
2013, for the payment of Directors’ fees proposed for the financial year ending 31 December 2013 amounting to 
$260,000 (2012: $217,583).

For better alignment with shareholders’ interest, Directors and key executives of the Company are encouraged to 
purchase the Company’s shares from the open market and to hold such shares on a long term basis, subject to 
their compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Independent Directors may purchase and hold Company’s 
shares provided their independence remain uncompromised during the period and at any point in time. All 
shareholdings of the Company’s shares by Directors and key executives will be declared in a timely manner and 
fully disclosed in compliance with regulations and reporting requirements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability 

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position and 
prospects.

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“SFRS”) prescribed by the Accounting Standards Council. Effective 1 January 2011, the Company disseminates 
quarterly, half-year and full-year financial results and other related material information of the Group to Shareholders 
via announcements to the SGX-ST and, where appropriate, press releases, and media and analyst briefings. In 
communicating and disseminating its results, the Company aims to present a balanced and clear assessment of 
the Group’s performance, position and prospects. In addition, where appropriate and necessary, details on the 
Group’s diverse business operations are also discussed to provide shareholders and public with clarity and better 
understanding of its business portfolio.

Principle 11: Audit Committee

The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority 
and duties.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee (“AC”) undertakes the monitoring and review of the system of 
internal controls. Amongst others, the primary responsibilities are to assist the Board in providing oversight over 
the Company’s performance in areas of internal controls, financial and accounting practices, operational and 
compliance controls, and corporate and financial risk management. Significant findings are reported to the Board 
and recommended remedial plans implemented towards improving overall controls and risk management posture of 
the Company.

The AC is guided by established Terms of Reference endorsed by the Board which sets out its duties and 
responsibilities. It is fully empowered to investigate any matter within the Terms of Reference, and has full access to 
and the cooperation of the Management, as well as the full discretion to invite any Director or executive officers of 
the Management to attend its meetings, or provide such information/documents as it may require, and assist in its 
investigation.
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The AC comprises the following non-executive Directors:

1. Mr Lien Kait Long Independent Director Chairman
2. Mr Kelvin Tan Wee Peng Independent Director Member
3. Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director Member

All the members of the AC, including the Chairman, are non-executive Independent Directors. The members of the AC 
possess the necessary and appropriate attributes and qualifications. Their individual and collective wealth of experience 
and expertise on accounting and financial management enables them to effectively carry out their duties and discharge 
their responsibilities competently. The Board is satisfied that the AC has reasonable resources and competencies to 
perform its functions and to provide effective oversight over the Group’s internal controls and risk management. 

The principal duties, responsibilities and activities of the AC are to: 

1. Review the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company and ensure the adequacy of the 
Group’s system of accounting controls and the co-operation given by the Company’s management to the 
external and internal auditors;

2. Review the quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report of the Group and 
the Company before submitting to the Board of Directors; such reviews will also include the review of the 
significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of 
the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;

3. Review, at least annually, with the management and the internal auditor the adequacy of the Group’s 
internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems 
established by the management;

4. Reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function; including the audit plans for 
the year;

5. Review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related 
compliance policies and programs and any reports received from regulators;

6. Review the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually;

7. Review the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

8. Review the currency of the whistle-blowing policies and the reported incidents, including the appropriate 
investigations and ensuring appropriate follow-up actions, where necessary;

9. Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

10. Review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the listing rules of the 
Singapore Exchange.

The AC also meets with internal and external auditors without the presence of the Management at least once a year  
to obtain feedback on the competency and adequacy of the finance function and to ascertain if there is any material 
weakness in control efficiencies in the Group’s financial reporting and operational systems. Besides scheduled 
meeting, the external auditors and the AC Chairman have direct and open access channels of communication.
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The AC confirms that the Company and the Group complies with Catalist Listing Rule 712, 715 and 716.

The AC reviews and makes recommendations to the Board for approval by shareholders, the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Company’s external auditors. It also reviews and approves the remuneration 
and terms of engagement of the external auditors. The AC also reviews the independence of the external auditor 
annually. Having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, the AC is satisfied 
that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. During the 
year, the Company pays no more than $70,000 to the Company auditors for all non-audit related services, and this 
primarily relates to consulting on corporate taxation matters.

The AC also conducts a review of Interested Person Transactions (“IPT”) to ensure that there are no improper 
activities of the Company. The Company do not have any IPT that are entered into pursuant to shareholders’ 
mandate approved at the AGM. Accordingly, the AC is satisfied that there are no material IPTs which warrant 
disclosure or further discussion, and there are no impropriety in this area.

Code of Conduct

The Directors, officers and employees of the Company are required to observe, uphold and maintain high standards 
of integrity and propriety in carrying out their roles and responsibilities, and to comply with applicable laws and 
regulations as well as the Group’s human resource and finance processes. Similarly, such behaviour and conduct is 
expected of our employees in their dealings with fellow employees, customers, suppliers and business associates.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing framework where employees of the Company may raise concerns 
about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters in confidence. To ensure an 
independent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up action is taken, all whistle-blowing reports are 
sent to the AC Chairman and/or members who are also Independent Directors. Details of Whistle-Blowing policy 
and arrangements have been made available to all employees. As a step-up to its corporate governance initiative, 
during the year, the Company made further enhancements to the Whistle-blowing policy and framework which 
incorporated greater areas of reportable impropriety and clarity, including foreign language translation to embrace a 
greater ethnic composition of its employee population.

Principle 12: Internal Controls

The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the 
Shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The Board recognises that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but accepts that no cost 
effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as the system is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The AC will:

•	 satisfy	 itself	 that	 adequate	 measures	 are	 in	 place	 to	 identify	 and	 mitigate	 any	 material	 business	 risks	
associated with the Group;

•	 ensure	 that	 a	 review	 of	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 Group’s	 material	 internal	 controls,	 including	 financial,	
operating and compliance controls and risk management, is conducted at least annually. Such reviews can 
be carried out by the internal auditors;
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•	 ensure	 that	 the	 internal	 control	 recommendations	 made	 by	 the	 internal	 auditors	 and	 management	
letter points raised by the external auditors identified during the course of the statutory audit have been 
implemented by the Management; and

•	 ensure	the	Board	is	in	a	position	to	comment	on	the	adequacy	of	the	internal	controls	of	the	Group.

An Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) programme has been implemented to identify, prioritise, assess, 
manage and monitor key risks. The risk management process in place covers, inter alia, financial, operational and 
compliance risks faced by the Group. The key risks identified are deliberated by Senior Management, and going 
forward, will be reported to the Audit Committee on a semi-annually basis. Management will continuously evaluate 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the ERM programme against leading industry practices and significant risks vis-
à-vis changes in the operating environment.

Complementing the ERM programme is a Group-wide system of internal controls as well as checks-and-balances 
built into the business processes. To ensure that internal controls and risk management processes are adequate 
and effective, the AC is assisted by various independent professional service providers. The assistance of the 
internal auditors enabled the AC to carry out assessments of the effectiveness of key internal controls during 
the year. Any material non-compliance or weaknesses in internal controls or recommendations from the internal 
auditors and management letter points raised by the external auditors identified during the course of the statutory 
audit to further improve the internal controls were reported to the AC. The AC will also follow up on the actions 
taken by the Management on the recommendations made by the internal and external auditors.

Relying on the reports from the internal auditors and management letter points raised by the external auditors 
identified during the course of the statutory audit and management representation letters, the AC carries out 
assessments of the effectiveness of key internal controls during the year.

The Directors have received and considered the confirmations in accordance with Rule 705(5) of the Listing Manual 
of the SGX-ST from the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and senior management of the subsidiaries in 
relation to the financial information for the year.

On an annual basis, the AC reviews the adequacies and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems established 
by Management. This ensures that such system is sound and adequate to provide reasonable assurance of 
the integrity, effectiveness and efficiency of the Company in safeguarding Shareholders’ investments and the 
Company’s assets.

The Board notes that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence 
of material errors, poor judgments in decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities. In assessing 
the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls framework, the Board ensures a balanced approach of risk 
management, controls mechanism commensurate with the risk profile of the processes and business operations.

The importance and emphasis placed by the Group on internal controls is underpinned by the fact that the 
satisfactory posture of the business unit’s internal control is one of the key performance indicators for Management, 
and takes into account the findings of the internal auditors and the management letter points raised by the external 
auditors identified during the course of the statutory audit, and the progress of resolution of such highlighted areas 
of improvements.
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When forming an opinion on the adequacy of the internal controls of the Group, the Board takes into consideration 
the findings and results from the internal auditor and management letter points raised by the external auditors 
identified in the course of the statutory audit, and analysing them in the context of the nature and size of the 
Group’s operations and businesses. While the Management continuously review and improve systems of internal 
controls, based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal 
and  external auditors, and reviews performed by management, various Board Committees and the Board, the Audit 
Committee and the Board are of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational and 
compliance risks, were adequate as at 31 December 2012. 

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.

The Board recognises that it is its responsibility to maintain a system of internal control processes to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s business and assets. Periodic review and testing of the system of 
internal controls is an important exercise to ensure that the control mechanism in place is working in the intended 
manner for which it is designed for. While the importance of working internal controls cannot be discounted, the 
Board also recognised that the size of the Group may not warrant and will not be a cost-effective or efficient 
solution to have an internal audit function and team within the organisational setup.

Accordingly, the Group will achieve the objective of an internal audit function through engaging of an outside 
reputable professional accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to perform an internal audit on the business 
operations. The internal auditor meets or exceeds the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised 
professional bodies including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of 
Internal Auditors. The scope of the internal audit as well as the terms of engagement is determined by the AC. All 
such internal audit reports, including findings and recommendations, are communicated to the AC for review and 
concurrence, with the Management provided with similar report for implementation and follow-up actions. Key audit 
findings and recommendations are tabled for discussion at the AC meetings, and the timeliness and progress of 
implementing the corrective or improvement actions are measured and reported.

The AC reviews at least annually the internal audit report and approves the annual internal audit plans to ensure the 
adequacy and effectiveness of this alternate internal audit function. The AC will implement the changes when the 
Group’s operations and size grows to a point whereby a staffed internal audit team will be required. Considering 
the above condition and solution, the AC and the Board is reasonably assured that the objective of an internal 
audit function can and is achieved through a balanced and measured manner. The AC has reviewed the internal 
audit plan and the reported audit findings for FY2012; and is satisfied that the internal audit functions have been 
adequately carried out.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders

Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with Shareholders.

The Company aims to provide fair, relevant, comprehensive and timely information regarding the Group’s 
performance and progress, and other pertinent information to shareholders and investment community to 
enable them to make informed investment decisions. The Board is mindful of its obligation to provide timely and 
fair disclosure of any material information in accordance with the Corporate Disclosure Policy of the Singapore 
Exchange.

The Company engaged an outside professional investor relations firm to plan, coordinate and implement its investor 
relations initiatives focusing on communications between the Company’s Management and its shareholders, as 
well as the investment community. In addition, the Company’s Management is also active in regular dialogues with 
investors, analysts, fund managers and the media/press community. Material price sensitive and other pertinent 
information of interest to these communities and the general public are communicated and/or made publicly 
available on a timely basis. Material information is simultaneously disseminated to the SGX-ST, and where relevant, 
the press and posted on the Company’s website at www.vikingom.com. Results and annual reports are announced 
or issued within the mandatory period and are available on the Company’s website.

In addition to regulatory required information disclosures, the Company also makes available briefing materials 
to the analysts and media, and other materials prepared for select group briefings and road shows are also 
provided to the public to ensure equal information access and general availability. Contact details and channels of 
communications with shareholders and public remain open and relevant information is duly updated and conveyed 
via the Company’s websites and email channels.

Principle 15: Participation of Shareholders

Companies should engage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow Shareholders the opportunity to 
communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Board welcomes the view of shareholders on matters affecting the Company, whether at shareholders’ 
meetings or on an ad hoc basis. The Board encourages active shareholder participation in general shareholders 
meetings, including AGMs and EGMs. It believes that general meetings are opportune forum and suitable platform 
for shareholders and the Board and Management of the Company to engage in active exchange of ideas. In 
addition, the Company holds such shareholders meetings onsite at its premises in order to provide shareholders 
with greater opportunity to understand and appreciate the Company’s business operations.

The Company sends its Annual Report and Notice of AGM to all shareholders. The Notice will also be published 
in either The Straits Times or The Business Times newspapers and will be made available on SGXNET and the 
Company website. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting. At its AGM, 
shareholders have the opportunity to raise questions to the Board and senior Management, and clarify with them 
any issues they may have relating to the resolutions to be passed. Board members and senior Management are 
required to attend shareholders’ meetings and are on hand to address any questions raised. The Company’s 
external auditors are also present to address shareholders’ queries on the conduct of audit and the preparation and 
content of the auditors’ report, where necessary and appropriate.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
Listing Rule 1207 sub-Rule (19)

In line with Listing Rule 1207(19) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual regarding the Dealings in Securities, the Company 
issues a quarterly circular to its Directors, officers and employees reminding them of the restrictions on dealings 
in listed securities of the Group during the period commencing (i) two weeks before the announcement of 
quarterly results and (ii) one month before announcement of full-year results, and ending on the date of such 
announcements. Directors, officers and employees are also directed to refrain from dealing in listed securities 
of the Group at any time they are in possession of unpublished price sensitive information, or on short-term 
considerations.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to take into account the risk 
management perspective. The Group seeks to identify areas of significant business risks as well as appropriate 
measures to control and mitigate these risks.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of its 
CEO, Directors or controlling shareholders.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of transactions with interested persons and has set out the 
procedures for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions.

The AC and the Board reviews all transactions conducted with interested person to satisfy themselves that 
transactions are carried out at arm’s length and under normal commercial terms, and the terms of the transactions 
are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its minority shareholders.

Name of Interested Person Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 

financial year (excluding transactions 
less than $100,000 and transactions 

conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding 
transactions less than $100,000)

NIL There are no transactions to be 
disclosed meeting this criteria

There are no Shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rules 920

SPONSOR

No fees relating to non-sponsorship activities or services were paid to the Company’s sponsor for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2012.
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The directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2012.

1. Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Lim Andy
Ong Choo Guan
Lin Wei Daniel
Woo Peng Kong
Lien Kait Long
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Lee Suan Hiang

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares, debentures and warrants

Except as disclosed below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company 
a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares, debentures or warrants of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

3. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of 
directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, 
an interest in shares and share options of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned 
subsidiaries) as stated below:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of director

At the 
beginning 

of financial 
year 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January

2013

At the 
beginning 

of financial 
year 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January

2013

Ordinary shares of the Company
Lim Andy 1,540,000 140,984,000 140,984,000  156,944,000 17,500,000 17,500,000
Ong Choo Guan 20,900,000 20,900,000 20,900,000 50,000 50,000 50,000
Lien Kait Long 500,000 500,000 500,000 – – –
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 – – –
Lee Suan Hiang 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 – – –
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3. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures (cont’d)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of director

At the 
beginning 

of financial 
year 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January

2013

At the 
beginning 

of financial 
year 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January

2013

Share options of the Company
Lim Andy 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 – – –
Ong Choo Guan 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 – – –
Lin Wei Daniel – 300,000 300,000 – – –
Woo Peng Kong – 300,000 300,000 – – –
Lien Kait Long 300,000 300,000 300,000 – – –
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 300,000 300,000 300,000 – – –
Lee Suan Hiang 300,000 300,000 300,000 – – –

Warrants
Lim Andy 29,535,250 29,535,250 – 2,000,000 2,000,000 –

Except as disclosed in this report, no other director who held office at the end of the financial year had an 
interest in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company or of related corporations, either at 
the beginning or the end of the financial year.

4. Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of 
the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the 
Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a 
Company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

5. Options

The Company had an employee share option scheme known as “The Novena Holdings Limited Share Option 
Scheme” (the “Novena Scheme”), for the granting of non-transferable options to eligible senior executives 
and employees. The Novena Scheme expired on 3 December 2010 and the options granted under the 
Novena Scheme expired on 18 August 2012.

At an extraordinary general meeting held on 3 November 2010, shareholders approved the Viking Offshore 
and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (the “VOM Scheme”) for the granting of non-transferable options 
that are settled by physical delivery of the ordinary shares of the Company, to eligible group employees and 
directors.

The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) administering the Novena Scheme and VOM Scheme 
comprises three directors, Tan Wee Peng Kelvin, Lee Suan Hiang and Lien Kait Long.
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5. Options (cont’d)

During the financial year:

•	 No	 share	 options	 were	 granted	 under	 the	 Novena	 Scheme.	 10,300,000	 share	 options	 under	 the	
Novena Scheme expired during the year.

•	 The	Company	granted	 13,600,000	 share	 options	 under	 the	VOM	Scheme.	 These	options	 expire	 on	
7 June 2017 and are exercisable if the employees remain in service for 1 year from the date of grant.

Details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the VOM Scheme as at 
31 December 2012 are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price ($) Number of options

20 December 2010 19 December 2015 0.200 2,000,000
8 June 2012 7 June 2017 0.110 13,600,000
Total 15,600,000

Details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted to directors of the Company 
pursuant to the Novena Scheme are as follows:

Name of participant

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement of 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Options expired 
during the 

financial year

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at end of 

financial year

Lim Andy 7,000,000 (3,500,000) (3,500,000) –
Ong Choo Guan 2,500,000 – (2,500,000) –
Lien Kait Long 600,000 (300,000) (300,000) –
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 600,000 (300,000) (300,000) –
Lee Suan Hiang 300,000 – (300,000) –
Total 11,000,000 (4,100,000) (6,900,000) –
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5. Options (cont’d)

Details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted to directors of the Company 
pursuant to the VOM Scheme are as follows:

Name of participant

Options granted 
during the 

financial year

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement of 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at end of 

financial year

Lim Andy 3,500,000 3,500,000 – 3,500,000
Ong Choo Guan 2,500,000 2,500,000 – 2,500,000
Lin Wei Daniel 300,000 300,000 – 300,000
Woo Peng Kong 300,000 300,000 – 300,000
Lien Kait Long 300,000 300,000 – 300,000
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 300,000 300,000 – 300,000

Lee Suan Hiang 300,000 300,000 – 300,000
Total 7,500,000 7,500,000 – 7,500,000

Since the commencement of the Schemes till the end of the financial year:

•	 No	options	 have	been	granted	 to	 the	 controlling	 shareholders	 of	 the	Company	 and	 their	 associates	
other than a director, Lim Andy.

•	 No	 participant	 other	 than	 two	 directors,	 Lim	 Andy	 and	 Ong	 Choo	 Guan	 mentioned	 above	 have	
received 5% or more of the total options available under the Schemes.

•	 No	options	 that	 entitle	 the	 holder	 to	 participate,	 by	 virtue	 of	 the	 options,	 in	 any	 share	 issue	of	 any	
other corporation have been granted.

•	 No	options	have	been	granted	at	a	discount.

6. Performance shares

The Viking Long Term Incentive Plan (the “VLTP”) was approved by the shareholders at an extraordinary 
general meeting held on 15 December 2011 and is administered by the Committee. Persons eligible to 
participate in the VLTP are selected Group Employees (including Group Executive Directors) and Group Non-
Executive Directors at the absolute discretion of the Committee.

The awards under the VLTP (the “Awards”) give the right to a participant to receive fully-paid ordinary shares 
free of charge, upon the participant achieving the prescribed performance targets and upon expiry of the 
prescribed vesting period.
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6. Performance shares (cont’d)

The performance targets to be set shall take into account both the medium-term to long-term corporate 
objectives of the Group and the individual performance of the participant and will be aimed at sustaining 
long-term growth. The corporate objectives shall cover market competitiveness, business growth and 
productivity growth. In addition, the participant’s length of service with the Group, achievement of past 
performance targets, value-add to the Group’s performance and development and overall enhancement to 
shareholder value, amongst others, will be taken into account.

No Awards were granted since the commencement of the VLTP.

7. Warrants

At the end of the financial year, details of the outstanding warrants are as follow:

Date of
issue

Warrants 
outstanding at 

1.1.2012 
Warrants 

issued
Warrants 
exercised

Warrants 
expired

Warrants 
outstanding at 

31.12.2012 
Date of 

expiration

21.01.2010 105,794,416 – – – 105,794,416  18.01.2013

Each warrant issued on 21 January 2010 entitles the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share 
in the Company at the exercise price of $0.22 per share. The warrants do not entitle the holders of the 
warrants, by virtue of such holdings, to any rights to participate in any share issue of any other company.

8. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, including the following:

•	 Review	the	audit	plans	of	the	internal	and	external	auditors	of	the	Company	and	ensure	the	adequacy	
of the Group’s system of accounting controls and the co-operation given by the Company’s 
management to the external and internal auditors;

•	 Review	the	quarterly,	half-yearly	and	annual	financial	statements	and	the	auditors’	report	of	the	Group	
and the Company before submitting to the Board of Directors; such reviews will also include the 
review of the significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the 
financial statements of the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial 
performance;

•	 Review,	at	 least	annually,	with	 the	management	and	the	 internal	auditor	 the	adequacy	of	 the	Group’s	
internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and 
systems established by the management;

•	 Reviewing	 the	 adequacy	and	effectiveness	of	 the	Group’s	 internal	 audit	 function;	 including	 the	 audit	
plans for the year;
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8. Audit Committee (cont’d)

•	 Review	 legal	 and	 regulatory	matters	 that	may	 have	 a	material	 impact	 on	 the	 financial	 statements,	
related compliance policies and programs and any reports received from regulators;

•	 Review	the	cost	effectiveness	and	the	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	external	auditors	annually;

•	 Review	the	nature	and	extent	of	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	auditors;

•	 Review	 the	 currency	 of	 the	 whistle-blowing	 policies	 and	 the	 reported	 incidents,	 including	 the	
appropriate investigations and ensuring appropriate follow-up actions, where necessary;

•	 Making	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 the	 appointment,	 reappointment	 and	 removal	 of	 the	
external auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

•	 Review	 interested	person	 transactions	 in	accordance	with	 the	 requirements	of	 the	 listing	 rules	of	 the	
Singapore Exchange.

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied 
that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The 
AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year and the attendances are disclosed in the Report on 
Corporate Governance. The AC has also met with internal and external auditors, without the presence of the 
Company’s management, at least once a year.

Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

9. Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors:

 
Lim Andy Ong Choo Guan
Director Director

2 April 2013
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We, Lim Andy and Ong Choo Guan, being two of the directors of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited, do hereby 
state that, in the opinion of the directors,

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity, and consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2012, and 
the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 
Company for the year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors:

 
Lim Andy Ong Choo Guan
Director Director

2 April 2013

statement by Directors
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Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the 
Company as at 31 December 2012, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash 
flow statement of the Group and the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and 
fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

independent auditor’s Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2012 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes 
in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

2 April 2013

independent auditor’s Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
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Note 2012 2011
$ $

Continuing operations
Revenue 4 87,318,044 83,973,437
Cost of sales (66,935,982) (62,813,639)
Gross profit 20,382,062 21,159,798
Other items of income
Other income 6(a) 7,378,304 14,141,997
Interest income – fixed deposits 2,230 2,708
Gain on bargain purchase 14(c) – 3,163,414
Other items of expense
Marketing and distribution expenses (2,360,816) (1,699,919)
Administrative expenses (20,199,754) (18,222,952)
Other operating expenses 6(b) (3,793,431) (12,770,176)
Finance costs 8 (389,922) (1,039,853)
Profit before tax from continuing operations 6 1,018,673 4,735,017
Taxation 9 150,757 657,256
Profit for the year from continuing operations, net of tax 1,169,430 5,392,273
Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations, net of tax 11 (416,245) 632,040

753,185 6,024,313
Other comprehensive income: 
Net change in fair value reserve of available-for-sale financial assets 1,507,002 (19,239,024)
Foreign currency translation (213,604) 337,199
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 1,293,398 (18,901,825)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 2,046,583 (12,877,512)

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Profit from continuing operations, net of tax 1,055,947 5,302,515
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (416,245) 632,040

Non-controlling interests
Profit from continuing operations, net of tax 113,483 89,758

753,185 6,024,313
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations, net of tax 2,349,345 (13,599,310)
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (416,245) 632,040

Non-controlling interests
Profit from continuing operations, net of tax 113,483 89,758

2,046,583 (12,877,512)
Earnings per share (cents)
  Basic 10 0.11 1.02
  Diluted 10 0.11 1.02
Earnings per share (cents) from continuing operations
  Basic 10 0.18 0.91
  Diluted 10 0.18 0.91

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated statement of Comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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Group Company

Note
2012

$
2011

$
2012

$
2011

$
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 17,128,257 18,071,557 169,707 189,279
Intangible assets 13 35,211,496 36,719,056 – –
Investment in subsidiaries 14 – – 90,840,186 93,950,944
Quoted equity investments 15 715,230 2,198,584 705,600 2,185,209
Unquoted equity investments 16 – – – –
Deferred tax assets 9 328,305 10,925 – –

53,383,288 57,000,122 91,715,493 96,325,432
Current assets
Inventories 17 22,774,890 27,598,300 – –
Trade receivables 18 13,238,421 13,796,291 – –
Prepayments 261,627 154,500 52,248 8,697
Other receivables and deposits 19 3,357,664 2,871,822 2,600,088 1,044,224
Due from customers on contracts 20 7,829,537 7,247,236 – –
Cash and short-term deposits 21 11,648,230 9,405,382 822,188 12,725

59,110,369 61,073,531 3,474,524 1,065,646
Current liabilities
Trade payables 22 7,623,955 7,514,483 – –
Bills payable 28 2,141,044 771,178 – –
Due to customers on contracts 20 583,263 1,236,702 – –
Other payables and accruals 24 4,866,093 6,188,134 1,962,462 2,713,472
Tax payable 1,751,785 2,150,360 939,030 840,000
Deferred rental 25 199,714 199,714 199,714 –
Lease obligations 27 68,911 68,622 – –
Term loans 28 5,108,118 7,220,125 784,118 1,596,125
Unearned revenue 23 – 552,626 – –
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) 26 – – 27,135,065 32,244,129
Bank overdrafts 28 – 205,641 – 205,641

22,342,883 26,107,585 31,020,389 37,599,367
Net current assets/(liabilities) 36,767,486 34,965,946 (27,545,865) (36,533,721)
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability 9 4,062,397 4,849,993 24,918 24,918
Deferred rental 25 33,285 233,001 33,285 –
Lease obligations 27 112,293 197,064 – –
Term loans 28 5,973,995 6,797,997 – –

10,181,970 12,078,055 58,203 24,918

Net assets 79,968,804 79,888,013 64,111,425 59,766,793

Equity attributable to owners 
   of the Company
Share capital 30(a) 79,338,578 79,338,578 79,338,578 79,338,578
Treasury shares 30(b) (731,244) – (731,244) –
Reserves 507,431 (391,121) (14,495,909) (19,571,785)

79,114,765 78,947,457 64,111,425 59,766,793
Non-controlling interests 854,039 940,556 – –
Total equity 79,968,804 79,888,013 64,111,425 59,766,793

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Balance sheets
As at 31 December 2012
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company

Non-
controlling
interests

Total 
equity

2012
Group

Share
capital

(Note 30 (a))

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 30 (b))
Accumulated 

profits

Other
reserves
(Note 31)

Total
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2012 79,338,578 – 548,134 (939,255) (391,121) 940,556 79,888,013

Profit for the year – – 639,702 – 639,702 113,483 753,185

Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value 
reserve of available-for-sale 

financial assets 31(b) – – – 1,507,002 1,507,002 – 1,507,002

Foreign currency translation 31(a) – – – (213,604) (213,604) –  (213,604)

Other comprehensive income  
for the year, net of tax – – – 1,293,398 1,293,398 – 1,293,398

Total comprehensive income  
for the year

– – 639,702 1,293,398 1,933,100 113,483 2,046,583

Contributions by and distribution  
to owners

Grant of equity-settled share 
options 31(c) – – – 213,407 213,407 – 213,407

Dividends on ordinary shares 32 – – (1,247,955) – (1,247,955) (200,000) (1,447,955)

Purchase of treasury shares – (731,244) – – – – (731,244)

Expiry of equity-settled 
share option 31(c) – – 670,998 (670,998) – – –

Total transactions with owners 
  in their capacity as owners – (731,244) (576,957) (457,591) (1,034,548) (200,000) (1,965,792)

At 31 December 2012 79,338,578 (731,244) 610,879 (103,448) 507,431 854,039 79,968,804

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements

statement of Changes in equity 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company

Non-
controlling
interests

Total 
equity

2011
Group

Share
capital

(Note 30(a))
Accumulated 

profits

Other
reserves
(Note 31)

Total
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2011 – as restated 70,088,644 (3,726,118) 17,590,106 13,863,988 850,798 84,803,430

Profit for the year – 5,934,555 – 5,934,555 89,758 6,024,313

Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of 

available-for-sale financial assets 31(b) – – (19,239,024) (19,239,024) – (19,239,024)

Foreign currency translation 31(a) – – 337,199 337,199 – 337,199

Other comprehensive loss for 
the year, net of tax – – (18,901,825) (18,901,825) – (18,901,825)

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – 5,934,555 (18,901,825) (12,967,270) 89,758 (12,877,512)

Contributions by and distribution 
to owners

Grant of equity-settled share 
options 31(c) – – 403,364 403,364 – 403,364

Dividends on ordinary shares 32 – (1,691,203) – (1,691,203) – (1,691,203)

Issuance of shares in relation to 
acquisition 14 9,249,934 – – – – 9,249,934

Expiry of equity-settled share 
option 31(c) – 30,900 (30,900) – – –

Total transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners 9,249,934 (1,660,303) 372,464 (1,287,839) – 7,962,095

At 31 December 2011 79,338,578 548,134 (939,255) (391,121) 940,556 79,888,013

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

statement of Changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company Total equity

2012
Company

Share
capital

(Note 30(a))

Treasury 
shares 

(Note 30 (b))
Accumulated 

profits

Other
reserves
(Note 31)

Total
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2012 79,338,578 – (18,558,037) (1,013,748) (19,571,785) 59,766,793

Profit for the year – – 4,599,677 – 4,599,677 4,599,677

Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of 

available-for-sale financial assets 31(b) – – – 1,510,747 1,510,747 1,510,747

Other comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax – – – 1,510,747 1,510,747 1,510,747

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – 4,599,677 1,510,747 6,110,424 6,110,424

Contribution by and distribution to 
owners

Grant of equity-settled share options 31(c) – – – 213,407 213,407 213,407

Dividends on ordinary shares 32 – – (1,247,955) – (1,247,955) (1,247,955)

Purchase of treasury shares – (731,244) – – – (731,244)

Expiry of equity-settled share option 31(c) – – 670,998 (670,998) – –

Total transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners – (731,244) (576,957) (457,591) (1,034,548) (1,765,792)

At 31 December 2012 79,338,578 (731,244) (14,535,317) 39,408 (14,495,909) 64,111,425

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

statement of Changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company Total equity

2011
Company

Share
capital

(Note 30 (a))
Accumulated 

profits

Other
reserves
(Note 31)

Total
reserves

$ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2011 – as restated 70,088,644 (20,242,883) 17,828,737 (2,414,146) 67,674,498

Profit for the year – 3,345,149 – 3,345,149 3,345,149

Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of 

available-for-sale financial assets 31(b) – – (19,214,949) (19,214,949) (19,214,949)

Other comprehensive loss for the 
year, net of tax – – (19,214,949) (19,214,949) (19,214,949)

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year – 3,345,149 (19,214,949) (15,869,800) (15,869,800)

Contribution by and distribution to 
owners

Grant of equity-settled share options 31(c) – – 403,364 403,364 403,364

Dividends on ordinary shares 32 – (1,691,203) – (1,691,203) (1,691,203)

Issuance of shares in relation to 
acquisition 14 9,249,934 – – – 9,249,934

Expiry of equity-settled share option 31(c) – 30,900 (30,900) – –

Total transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners 9,249,934 (1,660,303) 372,464 (1,287,839) 7,962,095

At 31 December 2011 79,338,578 (18,558,037) (1,013,748) (19,571,785) 59,766,793

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

statement of Changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

79Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Note
2012

$
2011

$
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation from continuing operations 1,018,673 4,735,017
(Loss)/profit before taxation from discontinued operations 11 (414,361) 641,230

Adjustments for:
 Amortisation of intangible assets 13 1,514,556 3,352,765
 Intangible assets written off 13 – 1,500
 Amortisation of deferred rental 25 (199,714) (199,714)
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 1,684,139 1,596,373
 Property, plant and equipment written off 12 9,970 119,461
 Grant of equity-settled share options 31(c) 213,407 403,364
 Fair value gain on quoted equity investments 6(a) – (49,973)
 Gain on disposal of quoted equity investments 6(a) (3,893,085) (10,273,278)
 Impairment loss on unquoted equity investments 6(b) – 2,707,792
 Impairment loss on inventories 25,351 44,202
 Impairment loss on other receivables 6(b) – 5,030,135
 Net reversal of impairment on trade receivables 6(a) – (20,034)
 Trade receivables written off 6(b) 41,416 22,375
 Gain on disposal of plant and equipment and non-current asset held for sale 6(a) (36,939) (851,509)
 Interest expense 8 389,922 1,039,853
 Interest income (2,230) (2,708)
 Gain on bargain purchase 14(c) – (3,163,414)
 Provision for foreseeable losses 6(b) 572,754 –
 Inventories written down 6(b) 355,624 –

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,279,483 5,133,437
Changes in working capital:

 Inventories 1,912,274 3,642,870
 Trade receivables 497,113 4,681,716
 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (1,068,012) (441,207)
 Due from customers on contracts (1,155,055) (3,720,165)
 Trade payables 361,642 1,081,155
 Unearned revenue (44,387) 37,824
 Other payables and accruals 133,298 (2,634,816)
 Due to customers on contracts (653,439) (158,175)

Cash flows generated from operations 1,262,917 7,622,639
Interest paid (389,922) (707,068)
Interest received 2,230 2,708
Income taxes paid (1,313,231) (2,402,749)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities (438,006) 4,515,530

Consolidated Cash flow statement  
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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Note
2012

$
2011

$
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (460,979) (1,678,378)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and non-current 

asset held for sale 101,632 3,694,273
Purchase of quoted equity investments – (213,751)
Proceeds on disposal of quoted equities investments 6,883,442 17,147,679
Additions to intangible assets (12,812) (973)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries A – (26,075,991)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries B 1,045,036 –
Proceeds from a shareholder of an investee company – 1,000,000
Cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 7,556,319 (6,127,141)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings – 14,636,125
Repayment of bank borrowings (2,936,011) (15,377,230)
Purchase of treasury shares (731,244) –
Bills payable 1,369,866 195,657
Fixed deposits (secured) 404,379 (124,930)
Payment of dividends (1,247,955) (1,691,203)
Payment of lease obligations (124,480) (283,429)
Due to a director (1,000,000) –
Cash used in financing activities (4,265,445) (2,645,010)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,852,868 (4,256,621)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,795,362 13,051,983
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 11,648,230 8,795,362

Note A:

Net cash outflows from:
 Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd 14(a) – 8,000,000
 Marshal Systems Pte Ltd 14(b) – 9,015,101
 Viking Facilities Management & Operations Pte. Ltd. 14(c) – 9,060,890

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries – 26,075,991

Consolidated Cash flow statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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Note B:

On June 2012, the Group and the Group’s subsidiary company, Fasta International Pte Ltd completed the disposal 
of wholly owned subsidiaries, Shine @ Spring Pte Ltd and Niclas International Pte Ltd respectively. The disposal 
was done at the subsidiaries’ carrying value.

The value of assets and liabilities of Shine @ Spring Pte Ltd and Niclas International Pte Ltd recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements as at date of disposal, and the cash flow effect of the disposal were:

$
Analysis of disposal of subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment 141,919
Inventories 1,874,588
Other receivables, deposits & prepayments 700,772
Cash and cash equivalents 54,964
Trade payables (196,956)
Unearned revenue (508,239)
Other payables and accruals (661,739)
Provision for taxation (1,884)
Deferred tax liabilities (39,563)
Net identifiable assets of subsidiaries 1,363,862
Deferred consideration receivable (263,862)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries –
Consideration received 1,100,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary companies disposed off (54,964)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries 1,045,036

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Cash flow statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012
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1. Corporate information

The Company is a limited liability Company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

The Company’s registered office and principal place of business is located at 21 Kian Teck Road, Singapore 
628773.

The principal activities of the Company are the provision of management and other services to related 
companies and investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 14 to the 
financial statements.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRS).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $).

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the 
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards that are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the 
financial performance or position of the Group and the Company.

notes to the financial statements
31 December 2012

83Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet 
effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012
Revised FRS 19 Employee Benefits 1 January 2013

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013
Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2013

Improvements to FRSs 2012 1 January 2013
- Amendment to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2013

- Amendment to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2013
- Amendment to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2013

Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2014
Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2014

FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2014
FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2014

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2014
Amendments to FRS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

Except for the Amendments to FRS 1, FRS 111, Revised FRS 28 and FRS 112, the directors expect that 
the adoption of the other standards and interpretations above will have no material impact on the financial 
statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on 
adoption of the Amendments to FRS 1, FRS 111, Revised FRS 28 and FRS 112 are described below.

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) is effective for 
financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

The Amendments to FRS 1 changes the grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified 
to profit or loss at a future point in time would be presented separately from items which will never 
be reclassified. As the Amendments only affect the presentations of items that are already recognised in 
OCI, the Group does not expect any impact on its financial position or performance upon adoption of this 
standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements and Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements and Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures are effective 
for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

FRS 111 classifies joint arrangements either as joint operations or joint ventures. Joint operation is a joint 
arrangement whereby the parties that have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities whereas joint 
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the arrangement.

FRS 111 requires the determination of joint arrangement’s classification to be based on the parties’ rights 
and obligations under the arrangement, with the existence of a separate legal vehicle no longer being the 
key factor. FRS 111 disallows proportionate consolidation and requires joint ventures to be accounted for 
using the equity method. The revised FRS 28 was amended to describe the application of equity method to 
investments in joint ventures in addition to associates.

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is effective for financial periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014.

FRS 112 is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other 
entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet 
vehicles. FRS 112 requires an entity to disclose information that helps users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the nature and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests 
on its financial statements. As this is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact to the financial position and 
financial performance of the Group when implemented in 2014.

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a) Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used 
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date 
as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010 (cont’d)

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit 
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying 
amounts at the date when controls is lost;

- De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

- Re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. The following 
differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

- Acquisition of non-controlling interests, prior to 1 January 2010, were accounted for using the 
parent entity extension method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the 
book value of the share of the net assets acquired were recognised in goodwill.

- Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance 
was reduced to nil. Any further losses were attributed to the Group, unless the non-controlling 
interest had a binding obligation to cover these. Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were not 
reallocated between non-controlling interest and the owners of the Company.

- Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share 
of net asset value at the date control was lost. The carrying value of such investments as at 
1 January 2010 have not been restated.
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2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(b) Business combinations

Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the 
costs are incurred and the services are received.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is 
deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in profit or loss 
or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, 
it is not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree (if any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, 
the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out 
in Note 2.8(a). In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as 
gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.
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2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(b) Business combinations (cont’d)

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010

In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest 
(formerly known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to 
those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in 
equity. Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the 
acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in 
the terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would have been 
required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 
economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent 
adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners 
of the Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to owners of the 
Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and 
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2.6 Foreign currency

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(a) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at 
exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at the balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising 
on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are 
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation 
reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of 
the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

(b) Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and profit or loss are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the 
translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation reserve. 
On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to 
that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal without loss of control of a subsidiary that includes a foreign 
operation, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interest and are not recognised in profit or loss. For partial disposals 
of associates or jointly controlled entities that are foreign operations, the proportionate share of the 
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.7 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Such cost includes the cost of 
replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying property, plant and equipment. The accounting 
policy for borrowing costs is set out in Note 2.22. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and 
equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with 
specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost 
is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition 
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold buildings – 24 years
Computers and office equipment – 3 to 6 years
Furniture and fittings – 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles – 5 to 10 years
Renovation – 3 to 8 years
Air-conditioners – 8 to 10 years
Machinery – 5 to 10 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is 
included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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2.8 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwilll

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually 
and whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is 
determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group 
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-
generating unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the 
operations disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operation on or after 
1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the 
functional currency of the foreign operations and translated in accordance with the accounting policy 
set out in Note 2.6.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operation before 1 January 
2005 are deemed to be assets and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in SGD at the rates 
prevailing at the date of acquisition.

(b) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
acquisition, intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which 
the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
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2.8 Intangible assets (cont’d)

(b) Other intangible assets (cont’d)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not 
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful 
life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit 
or loss when the asset is derecognised.

(i) Customer relationships

Customer relationships were acquired in business combination and relate to relationships with 
both local and overseas shipyards and are amortised over their useful lives ranging 5 to 10 years.

(ii) Orderbook and projects in progress

Orderbooks and projects in progress were acquired in business combination and are amortised 
over their useful lives ranging 1 to 2 years.

(iii) Software

An acquired software is initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any 
discounts and rebates) and other directly attributed cost of preparing the asset for its intended 
use. These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives of 10 years. The remaining amortisation period of software is 8 years 
(2011: 9 years).

(iv) Club membership

Club membership was acquired separately and is amortised on a straight line basis over its 
finite useful life of 28 years. The remaining amortisation period of club membership is 22 years 
(2011: 23 years).
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2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes 
an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. 
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are 
prepared separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are 
allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer 
periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired assets, except for assets that are previously revalued where the 
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the 
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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2.10 Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant 
influence. An associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the 
date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate.

The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
the investment in associates is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of net assets of the associates. Goodwill relating to associates is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor tested individually for impairment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable asset, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 
the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of results of the 
associate in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the associates. Where there has been a 
change recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognises its share of such 
changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between 
the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.

The Group’s share of the profit or loss of its associates is the profit attributable to equity holders of the 
associate and, therefore is the profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of 
associates.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at the end 
of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss 
of significant influence and the fair value of the aggregate of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.11 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
any impairment losses.

2.12 Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near 
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not 
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by FRS 39. Derivatives, including 
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments.

The Group has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition at fair value through profit 
or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised 
in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
exchange differences, interest and dividend income.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair 
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts 
and the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These 
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 
the cash flows that would otherwise be required.
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2.12 Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

(b) Loans and receivables

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and 
through the amortisation process.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as 
available-for sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value 
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an 
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to 
changes in the market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any 
gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments 
and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost 
less impairment loss.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has 
expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and 
the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Regular way purchase or sale of a financial asset

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., 
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchase 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace concerned.

96 Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired.

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes 
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance 
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where 
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that 
an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.
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2.13 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment 
include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant 
changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in equity 
instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investment below its costs. ‘Significant’ is to be evaluated against the original cost of the investment 
and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between 
its acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less 
any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from other comprehensive 
income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity 
instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value after impairment are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on 
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for 
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss. 
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset, 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income. If, in a subsequent year, 
the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed in 
profit or loss.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and on hand and fixed deposits which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management.
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2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present locations and conditions are accounted for as follows:

- Raw materials: purchase costs determined on a weighted average basis;

- Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of 
manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a 
weighted average basis.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying 
value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

2.16 Project revenue

The Group principally operates fixed price contracts. Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised 
as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the 
end of the reporting period (the percentage of completion method), when the outcome of a contract can be 
estimated reliably.

The outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably when: (i) total contract revenue can be measured 
reliably; (ii) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the entity; (iii) the 
costs to complete the contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) the contract 
costs attributable to the contract can be clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual contract costs 
incurred can be compared with prior estimates.

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably (principally during early stages of a contract), 
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable 
and contract costs are recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

An expected loss on the contract is recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

In applying the percentage of completion method, revenue recognised corresponds to the total contract 
revenue (as defined below) multiplied by the actual completion rate based on the proportion of total contract 
costs (as defined below) incurred to date and the estimated costs to complete.

Contract revenue - Contract revenue corresponds to the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and 
any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will 
result in revenue; and they are capable of being reliably measured.
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2.16 Project revenue (cont’d)

Contract costs - Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific contract and costs that are 
attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate directly 
to a specific contract comprise: site labour costs (including site supervision); costs of materials used in 
construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; costs of design, and technical assistance that 
is directly related to the contract.

The Group’s contracts are typically negotiated for a single asset or a group of assets which are closely 
interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function. In certain circumstances, the 
percentage of completion method is applied to the separately identifiable components of a single contract or 
to a group of contracts together in order to reflect the substance of a contract or a group of contracts.

Assets covered by a single contract are treated separately when:

- The separate proposals have been submitted for each asset

- Each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and the contractor and customer have been able 
to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to each asset

- The costs and revenues of each asset can be identified

A group of contracts are treated as a single contract when:

- The group of contracts are negotiated as a single package; the contracts are so closely interrelated 
that they are, in effect, part of a single project with an overall profit margin

- The contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence

2.17 Provisions

General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Warranty provisions

Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognised when the product is sold or service provided. Initial 
recognition is based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is revised annually.
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2.18 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at 
initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category 
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial liabilities are recognised in profit 
or loss.

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or 
loss.

Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.19 Deferred rental

Deferred rental relates to the difference between the selling price and the fair value of the property under a 
sale and leaseback transaction. This is amortised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

2.20 Unearned revenue

Unearned revenue relates to service packages entered into with customers to the extent that services have 
not been rendered and revenue has not been recognised.

2.21 Deferred revenue

The Group operates the customer loyalty programme which allows customers to accumulate points when 
they purchase products in the Group’s stores. The points can be redeemed for free or discounted goods 
from the Group’s stores.

Deferred revenue represents consideration received from the sale of goods that is allocated to the points 
issued under the customer loyalty programme that are expected to be redeemed but are still outstanding as 
at the balance sheet date.

2.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences 
when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and 
borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for 
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs 
consists of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plan

As required by law, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the state pension 
scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as compensation 
expense in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. The estimated 
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(c) Pension scheme

The subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China contributes to defined contribution pension schemes. 
Contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 
scheme.
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2.23 Employee benefits (cont’d)

(d) Employee share option plan

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share 
options as consideration for services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled transactions with 
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which the options 
are granted which takes into account market conditions and non-vesting conditions. This cost is 
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share option reserve, 
over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the 
number of options that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting 
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective 
of whether or not the market condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. In the case where the option does not vest 
as the result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of the Group or 
the employee, it is accounted for as a cancellation. In such case, the amount of the compensation 
cost that otherwise would be recognised over the remainder of the vesting period is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss upon cancellation. The employee share option reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings upon expiry of the share options. When the options are exercised, the employee 
share option reserve is transferred to share capital if new shares are issued, or to treasury shares if the 
options are satisfied by the reissuance of treasury shares.

2.24 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement.

For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 January 2005 
in accordance with the transitional requirements of INT FRS 104.

(a) As lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased 
asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also 
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
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2.24 Leases (cont’d)

(a) As lessee (cont’d)

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and 
the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of 
the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction 
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(b) As lessor

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as 
rental income. The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.26(g). Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.25 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for 
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to 
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the 
date of classification. A component of the Group is classified as a “discontinued operation” when the criteria 
to be classified as held for sale have been met or it has been disposed of and such a component represents 
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations or is part of a single coordinated plan to 
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.

In profit or loss of the current reporting period, and of the comparative period of the previous year, all 
income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from 
continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains a non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary after the sale. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in profit 
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised.
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2.26 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the 
fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as 
principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of 
ownership of the goods to the customer, usually on delivery of goods. Revenue is not recognised 
to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, 
associated costs or the possible return of goods.

(b) Project revenue

Revenue from contract is recognised in accordance with Note 2.16.

(c) Rendering of services

Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

(d) Management fee

Management fee income is recognised when management services are rendered.

(e) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(f) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(g) Rental income

Rental income on the sublet of a leased property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to leases are recognised as a reduction of 
rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2.27 Income tax

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised except:

- where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.27 Income tax (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at 
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is 
adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate 
recognition at that date, would be recognised subsequently if new information about facts and 
circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as 
it does not exceed goodwill) if it incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

- Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or service is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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2.28 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products 
and services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the 
management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are 
shown in Note 39, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis 
of segment information.

2.29 Share capital and share issue expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.30 Treasury shares

The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost 
and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sales, issue or 
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between carrying amount of treasury 
shares and the consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to 
treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

2.31 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, 
it is recognised in profit or loss over the periods necessary to match them on a systematic basis, to the 
costs, which it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a 
deferred capital grant on the balance sheet and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of 
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

2.32 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation; or

(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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2.32 Contingencies (cont’d)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be 
reliably determined.

2.33 Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that 
person:

(i) Has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii) Has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of the 
Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

109Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at 
the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future 
periods.

(a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group reviews its debt securities classified as available-for-sale investments at each 
balance sheet date to assess whether they are impaired. The Group also records impairment 
charges on available-for-sale equity investments when there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value below their cost. The determination of what is “significant” 
or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among 
other factors, historical share price movements and the duration and extent to which the fair 
value of an investment is less than its cost. For the financial year ended 31 December 2012, no 
impairment loss was recognised for available-for-sale financial assets (2011: $Nil).

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. The Group based 
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected 
in the assumptions when they occur.

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to 
be within 3 to 24 years. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at 
31 December 2012 was $17,128,257 (2011: $18,071,557). Changes in the expected level of 
usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual 
values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(ii) Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement 
is involved in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables and deferred tax liabilities/assets at 31 December 
2012 are disclosed in the balance sheets.

(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales 
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted 
cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do 
not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future 
investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being 
tested. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted 
cash flow model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for 
extrapolation purposes. Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment 
assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial 
statements.

(iv) Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivable at the balance sheet date is disclosed 
in Note 36 to the financial statements.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(v) Employee share options

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value 
for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation 
model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires 
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life 
of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The 
assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions 
are disclosed in Note 5.

(vi) Project revenue

The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the 
contract activity at the end of each reporting period, when the outcome of a contract can be 
estimated reliably. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion that 
contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs. 
Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs and the recoverable 
variation works that will affect the stage of completion. The estimates are made based on 
past experience and knowledge of the project engineers. The carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities arising from contracts at the end of each reporting period are disclosed in Note 20 to 
the financial statements.

(vii) Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial instruments recorded on the balance sheet cannot be derived 
from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including the discounted 
cash flow model. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair 
values. The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs regarding the future 
financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions regarding the 
industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates. Changes in assumptions 
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The valuation of 
financial instruments is described in more detail in Note 35.

(viii) Warranty claims

The Group gives 12 months warranty for certain contracts. Management estimates the related 
provision for future warranty claims based on management’s best estimates which may differ 
from future claims. Factors that could impact the estimated claim information include the 
success of the Group’s productivity and quality initiatives, as well as parts and labour cost.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(ix) Economic useful lives of intangible assets

Intangible Assets with finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
economic useful lives. The economic useful lives of intangible assets with finite life are 
disclosed in Note 2.8. The carrying amount of the Group’s intangible assets at 31 December 
2012 are disclosed in Note 13. Changes in the expected level of returns of intangible assets and 
technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of 
these intangible assets, therefore future amortisation charges could be revised.

4. Revenue

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Sale of goods 43,501,963 40,293,128
Project revenue 33,314,934 39,063,043
Service income 9,080,143 4,019,775
Rental of equipment 1,378,884 565,794
Dividend income 42,120 31,697

87,318,044 83,973,437

5. Employee benefits

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Salaries and bonuses 13,314,482 13,305,167
Central Provident Fund contributions 1,193,722 1,073,758
Share-based payments (Employee share option plans) 213,407 403,364
Other short-term benefits 1,153,279 1,345,344

15,874,890 16,127,633

These include the amount shown as directors’ and other key management personnel compensation in Note 
33(b).
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5. Employee benefits (cont’d)

Employee share option plans

The Novena Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “Novena Scheme”) and The Viking Offshore and 
Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (the “VOM Scheme”)

Selected employees, as determined by the committee administering the Schemes, are entitled to a grant of 
options. The options will vest if the employee remains in service for a period of one year from the date of 
grant. The exercise price of the options ranges from $0.110- $0.200. The contractual life of the options is 
between 2 - 5 years. There are no cash settlement alternatives.

There has been no cancellation or modification to the Novena Scheme and VOM Scheme during both 
2012 and 2011. The Novena Scheme, which had a life of 10 years, expired on 3 December 2010. The VOM 
Scheme has a 10 years life from 4 December 2010 to 3 December 2020.

The expense recognised in profit or loss for employee services received during the year ended 31 December 
2012 is $213,407 (2011: $403,364) and comprise solely equity-settled options.

Movement of share options during the financial year

The following are the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and movements in share 
options during the year.

No. WAEP No. WAEP
2012 2012

$
2011 2011

$

Outstanding at 1 January 12,300,000 0.198 12,800,000 0.198
Granted 13,600,000 0.110 – –
Forfeited/expired (10,300,000) 0.198 (500,000) 0.198

Outstanding at 31 December 15,600,000 0.122 12,300,000 0.198

Exercisable at 31 December 15,600,000 0.122 12,300,000 0.198

The weighted exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.122 (2011: $0.198). The 
weighted average remaining contractual life for these options is 4.02 years (2011: 0.96 years).
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5. Employee benefits (cont’d)

Fair value of share options granted

The fair value of share options as at the date of grant is estimated by the Group using the Black-Scholes 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. No share option 
was granted during the year ended 31 December 2011. The inputs to the model used for the year ended 
31 December 2012 is shown below.

2012

Dividend yield (%)  0.00
Expected volatility (%)  48.00
Risk-free interest rate (% p.a.)  2.25
Expected life of option (years) 1.50 
Weighted average share price ($) 0.12

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is 
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of the 
option grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

6. Profit before tax from continuing operations

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax from continuing operations:

Group
2012 2011

$ $
(a) Other income includes:

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and non-current 
asset held for sale 36,939 851,509

Net fair value gain on quoted equity investments
- Available-for-sales financial assets (transferred from equity on 

disposal) 3,893,085 10,273,278
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 49,973
Rental income 2,607,427 1,613,684
Government grant 211,918 142,529
Net reversal of impairment on trade receivables – 20,034
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6. Profit before tax from continuing operations (cont’d)

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax from continuing operations (cont’d):

Group
2012 2011

$ $
(b) Other operating expenses include:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,631,886 1,437,879
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,514,556 3,352,765
Trade receivables written-off 41,416 22,375
Impairment loss on other receivables – 5,030,135
Impairment loss on unquoted equity investment (Note 16) – 2,707,792
Impairment loss on inventories – 44,202
Foreign exchange loss, net 204,061 25,559
Inventories written down 355,624 –
Provision for foreseeable losses 572,754 –

(c) Other disclosure items:

Audit fees paid to:
- Auditors of the Company 215,000 251,000
- Other auditors 8,180 7,282
Non-audit fees paid to:
- Auditors of the Company 33,400 68,100
- Other auditors 54,437 1,114
Employee benefits (Note 5) 15,874,890 16,127,633
Operating lease expenses 3,375,750 2,974,179

7. Directors’ remuneration

Number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands:

2012 2011

$500,001 and above 1 1
$250,001 to $500,000 2 1
Less than $250,000 4 6

7 8
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8. Finance costs

Group
2012 2011

$ $
Interest expense on:
- bank loans, overdrafts and facilities 378,074 547,329
- lease obligations 11,848 26,957
- acquisition of subsidiary – 332,785
- other payables – 79,561
- others – 53,221

389,922 1,039,853

9. Taxation

The major components of income tax credit for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are:

Group
2012 2011

$ $
Current income tax – continuing operations:
- current year 891,664 1,404,363
- under/(over) provision in respect of previous years 22,992 (390,911)

Deferred income tax – continuing operations:
- over provision in respect of previous years – (40,000)
- movement of temporary differences (1,065,413) (1,630,708)
Income tax attributable to continuing operations (150,757) (657,256)
Income tax attributable to discontinued operations (note 11) 1,884 9,190
Income tax credit recognised in profit or loss (148,873) (648,066)
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9. Taxation (cont’d)

The reconciliation of the tax credit and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate 
tax rates for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Profit before tax from continuing operations 1,018,673 4,735,017
(Loss)/profit before tax from discontinued operations (note 11) (414,361) 641,230
Accounting profit before tax 604,312 5,376,247

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the countries 
   where the Group operates 1,301,351 2,188,150
Adjustments:
   Non-deductible expenses/charges 688,681 1,718,562
   Income not subject to tax (1,353,881) (2,524,663)
   Effect of partial tax exemption (103,700) (155,550)
   Deferred tax assets not recognised 19,177 170,486
   Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years 24,876 (421,721)
   Movement of temporary differences (748,033) (1,630,708)
   Others 22,656 7,378
Income tax credit recognised in profit or loss (148,873) (648,066)

Unrecognised tax losses

The Group has unutilised tax losses of approximately $3,170,000 (2011: $3,057,000) available for offset 
against future taxable profits, subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with relevant 
provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the subsidiaries operate. The potential 
deferred tax assets arising from these unutilised tax losses have not been recognised in the financial 
statements in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy in Note 2.

Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax liability (2011: Nil) has been recognised for taxes that 
would be payable on the undistributed earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has 
determined that undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Such temporary differences for which no deferred tax liability has been recognised aggregate to $4,250,000 
(2011: $2,920,000). The deferred tax liability is estimated to be $425,000 (2011: $292,000).

Tax consequences of proposed dividends

There are no income tax consequences (2011: Nil) attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed 
by the Company but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements (Note 32).
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9. Taxation (cont’d)

Group

Deferred taxation at 31 December relates to the following:

Consolidated 
balance sheet

Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011
$

Deferred tax asset
Provisions 328,305 10,925 (317,380) –
Total deferred tax asset 328,305 10,925

Deferred tax liability
Differences in depreciation (284,881) (284,881) – (40,000)
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of 

subsidiaries (3,817,079) (4,565,112) (748,033) (1,630,708)
Disposal of subsidiaries 39,563 – – –
Total deferred tax liability (4,062,397) (4,849,993)

Deferred income tax (1,065,413) (1,670,708)

Company

Deferred taxation at 31 December relates to the following:

Balance sheet
2012

$
2011

$
Deferred tax liability
Differences in depreciation (24,918) (24,918)
Total deferred tax liability (24,918) (24,918)
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10. Earnings per share

(a) Continuing operations

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations are calculated by dividing profit from continuing 
operations, net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit from continuing operations, net 
of tax, attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would 
be issued on the conversion of all the existing warrants of the Company into ordinary shares.

The following tables reflect the profit and loss and share data used in the computation of basic and 
diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Net profits attributable to owners of the Company 639,702 5,934,555
Net profits from continuing operations attributable to owners 
   of the Company 1,055,947 5,302,515

Number of shares
2012 2011

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings 
   per share computation* 599,504,054 583,869,779

Weighted average number of ordinary shares diluted earnings 
   per share computation* 599,504,054 583,869,779

*  The weighted average number of shares takes into account the weighted average effect of 
changes in treasury shares transactions during the year.

As at year end, 15,600,000 (2011: 12,300,000) share options granted to employees under the existing 
employee share option plans and warrants of 105,794,416 (2011: 105,794,416), have not been 
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive.

Since the end of the financial year, no directors or senior executives have exercised the options to 
acquire ordinary shares (2011: Nil). There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares 
or potential ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the completion of these financial 
statements.
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10. Earnings per share (cont’d)

(b) Earnings per share computation

The basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per 
share computation and weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 
computation respectively. These profit and share data are presented in the tables in Note 10(a) above.

11. Discontinued operations

On 15 June 2012, the Group completed the disposal of the entire issued share capital of its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Shine @ Spring Pte Ltd (“Shine”). The entire results from the disposal group are presented 
separately on the statement of comprehensive income as “discontinued operations”.

On 25 June 2012, the Group’s subsidiary company, Fasta International Pte Ltd, completed the disposal of 
the entire issued share capital of its wholly owned subsidiary, Niclas International Pte Ltd (“Niclas”). The 
entire results from the disposal group are presented separately on the statement of comprehensive income 
as “discontinued operations”.

(a) Income statement disclosure

The results of the discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Revenue 4,680,581 11,253,471
Other income 68,665 53,526
Expenses (5,163,607) (10,665,767)
(Loss)/profit before taxation (414,361) 641,230
Taxation (1,884) (9,190)
(Loss)/profit after and taxation from discontinued operations (416,245) 632,040
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries – –
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations, net of tax (416,245) 632,040
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11. Discontinued operations (cont’d)

(b) Cash flow statement disclosure

The cash flows attributable to the discontinued operations are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Operating 486,460 (1,040,660)
Investing (267,269) (112,405)
Financing (2,865,880) 2,893,500
Net cash (outflows)/inflows (2,646,689) 1,740,435

(c) (Loss)/earnings per share disclosures

Group
2012 2011

(Loss)/earnings per share from discontinued operations attributable 
   to the owners of the Company (cents per share)

Basic (0.07) 0.11
Diluted (0.07) 0.11

The basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations are calculated by dividing the 
(loss)/profit from discontinued operations, net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share computation and weighted 
average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share computation respectively. These 
(loss)/profit and share data are presented in Note 10(a).

(d) Comparative figures

As a result of the discontinued operations, reclassifications as shown in Note 11 (a) above have been 
made to the prior year’s statement of comprehensive income.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
buildings

Computers 
and office 
equipment

Furniture 
and fittings

Motor 
vehicles Renovation

Air 
conditioners Machinery Total

Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost

At 1.1.2011 – 2,091,523 891,067 2,189,599 1,954,252 380,350 1,700,835 9,207,626

Additions – 283,004 204,178 304,442 930,928 86,904 111,222 1,920,678

Disposals – (21,850) (6,900) (665,518) – – (120,390) (814,658)

Acquisition of subsidiary 15,430,375 32,311 1,385 – 252,308 24,380 1,599 15,742,358

Written off – (44,141) (66,496) (68,392) (519,897) (165,420) – (864,346)

Exchange difference – 5,648 998 8,618 28 – 8,338 23,630

At 31.12.2010 and 1.1.2011 15,430,375 2,346,495 1,024,232 1,768,749 2,617,619 326,214 1,701,604 25,215,288

Additions – 313,095 36,202 11,216 69,882 18,393 52,191 500,979

Disposals – (21,636) – (192,460) – – (32,000) (246,096)

Disposal of subsidiaries – (945,923) (381,529) – (1,183,664) (139,241) – (2,650,357)

Reclassification from 

inventories – – – – – – 473,337 473,337

Written off – (333,144) (44,181) – (158,714) – (112,167) (648,206)

Exchange difference – (7,003) (1,173) (12,728) 154 46 (9,625) (30,329)

At 31.12.2012 15,430,375 1,351,884 633,551 1,574,777 1,345,277 205,412 2,073,340 22,614,616

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss

At 1.1.2011 – 1,799,173 663,823 1,340,425 1,532,061 300,161 441,371 6,077,014

Charge for the year 544,013 212,762 96,925 246,614 274,841 44,109 177,109 1,596,373

Disposals (21,314) (864) (446,396) – – (76,165) (544,739)

Acquisition of subsidiary 678,205 14,585 368 – 53,142 2,965 320 749,585

Written off – (44,123) (66,116) (68,392) (400,906) (165,348) – (744,885)

Exchange difference – 3,219 548 4,646 (8) – 1,978 10,383

At 31.12.2011 and 1.1.2012 1,222,218 1,964,302 694,684 1,076,897 1,459,130 181,887 544,613 7,143,731

Charge for the year 699,458 209,247 118,439 195,221 198,383 31,174 232,217 1,684,139

Disposals – (19,815) – (129,588) – – (32,000) (181,403)

Disposal of subsidiaries – (887,575) (380,929) – (1,111,734) (128,200) – (2,508,438)

Written off – (329,049) (38,504) – (158,714) – (111,969) (638,236)

Exchange difference – (4,045) (664) (6,226) 13 3 (2,515) (13,434)

At 31.12.2012 1,921,676 933,065 393,026 1,136,304 387,078 84,864 630,346 5,486,359

Net carrying amount

At 31.12.2012 13,508,699 418,819 240,525 438,473 958,199 120,548 1,442,994 17,128,257

At 31.12.2011 14,208,157 382,193 329,548 691,852 1,158,489 144,327 1,156,991 18,071,557
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12. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Computers 
and office 
equipment

Renovation, 
furniture and 

fittings
Air 

conditioners Total
$ $ $ $

Company

Cost
At 1.1.2011 92,190 235,937 56,648 384,775
Additions 32,175 – – 32,175
At 31.12.2011 and 1.1.2012 124,365 235,937 56,648 416,950
Additions 44,438 – 5,437 49,875
Written off (14,842) – – (14,842)
At 31.12.2012 153,961 235,937 62,085 451,983

Accumulated depreciation
At 1.1.2011 76,790 72,032 27,494 176,316
Charge for the year 9,557 33,705 8,093 51,355
At 31.12.2011 and 1.1.2012 86,347 105,737 35,587 227,671
Charge for the year 26,063 33,706 9,678 69,447
Written off (14,842) – – (14,842)
At 31.12.2012 97,568 139,443 45,265 282,276

Net carrying amount
At 31.12.2012 56,393 96,494 16,820 169,707

At 31.12.2011 38,018 130,200 21,061 189,279

Assets held under finance leases

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment amounting to $500,979 (2011: 
$1,920,678) of which $40,000 (2011: $242,300) was acquired by means of finance leases. Cash payment of 
$460,979 (2011: $1,678,378) were made to purchase property, plant and equipment.

The carrying amount of motor vehicles and machinery held by the Group under finance leases as at 
31 December 2012 was $145,942 (2011: $267,086) and $75,758 (2011: $43,710), respectively.

Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities.

Assets pledged as security

In addition to assets held under finance leases, the Group’s leasehold property with a carrying amount of 
$13,508,699 (2011: 14,208,157) is subject to a first charge for loans and borrowings (Note 28).
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13. Intangible assets

Goodwill
Customer

relationships

Order book
and projects
in progress Software

Club
membership Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Group
Cost
As at 1.1.2011 – as restated 29,271,151 9,648,000 3,913,000 119,342 71,500 43,022,993
Additions – – – 973 – 973
Written off – – – – (1,500) (1,500)
Exchange differences – – – 7,735 – 7,735
At 31.12.2011 and 1.1.2012 29,271,151 9,648,000 3,913,000 128,050 70,000 43,030,201
Additions – – – 12,812 – 12,812
Exchange differences – – – (7,218) – (7,218)
At 31.12.2012 29,271,151 9,648,000 3,913,000 133,644 70,000 43,035,795

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

As at 1.1.2011 – 953,900 1,632,000 6,764 – 2,592,664
Finalisation of purchase price 

allocation exercise – 28,000 335,000 – – 363,000
As at 1.1.2011 – as restated – 981,900 1,967,000 6,764 – 2,955,664
Amortisation – 1,436,900 1,891,000 12,158 12,707 3,352,765
Exchange differences – – – 2,716 – 2,716
At 31.12.2011 and 1.1.2012 – 2,418,800 3,858,000 21,638 12,707 6,311,145
Amortisation – 1,443,900 55,000 13,165 2,491 1,514,556
Exchange differences – – – (1,402) – (1,402)
At 31.12.2012 – 3,862,700 3,913,000 33,401 15,198 7,824,299

Net carrying amount
Balance at 31.12.2011 29,271,151 7,229,200 55,000 106,412 57,293 36,719,056

Balance at 31.12.2012 29,271,151 5,785,300 – 100,243 54,802 35,211,496

Customer relationships and orderbook and projects in progress

The economic useful lives of customer relationships and orderbook and projects in progress as determined 
by the Group are disclosed in Note 2.8. The average remaining amortisation period of customer relationship 
and orderbook and project in progress is 6 years (2011: 7 years).

Impairment testing of goodwill, customer relationship and orderbook and projects in progress

Goodwill arising from business combinations has been allocated to two cash-generating units (“CGU”) for 
impairment testing as follows:

– Offshore and Marine Heating, Ventilation and Air-Conditioning segment (“O&M HVAC”)

– Offshore and Marine Telecommunication segment (“O&M Tele”)
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13. Intangible assets (cont’d)

Impairment testing of goodwill, customer relationships and orderbook and projects in progress (cont’d)

The carrying amounts of goodwill, customer relationship and orderbook and projects in progress allocated to 
each CGU as at 31 December are as follows:

O&M HVAC O&M Tele Total
$ $ $

2012
Goodwill 20,876,918 8,394,233 29,271,151
Customer relationships 5,278,300 507,000 5,785,300

26,155,218 8,901,233 35,056,451

2011
Goodwill 20,876,918 8,394,233 29,271,151
Customer relationships 6,232,200 997,000 7,229,200
Orderbook and projects in progress – 55,000 55,000

27,109,118 9,446,233 36,555,351

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on value in use which is based on cash 
flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period. The pre-tax 
discount rate applied to the 5-year cash flow projections and the forecasted growth rates used to extrapolate 
cash flow projections beyond the 5-year period are as follows:

O&M HVAC O&M Tele

Growth rates 1.0% 1.0%
Pre-tax discount rates 9.5% 9.5%

The calculations of value in use for the CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Budgeted gross margins – Gross margins are based on budgeted margins expected to be achieved in the 
next 5 years.

Growth rates – The forecasted growth rates are based on published industry research and do not exceed the 
long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the CGUs.

Pre-tax discount rates – Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each 
CGU, regarding the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been 
incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances 
of the Group and its operating segments and derived from its weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). 
The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return 
on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest bearing borrowings the 
Group is obliged to service. Segment–specific risk is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The 
beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.
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13. Intangible assets (cont’d)

Amortisation expense

The amortisation of customer relationships, orderbook, project in progress and software are included in the 
“Other operating expenses” line items in the statement of comprehensive income (Note 6(b)).

Impairment losses

There was no impairment loss recognised during the financial year.

14. Investment in subsidiaries

Company
2012 2011

$ $

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 101,540,570 91,460,570
Acquisition during the year – 10,080,000
Disposal during the year (3,110,758) –

98,429,812 101,540,570
Less: Impairment losses (7,589,626) (7,589,626)

90,840,186 93,950,944

The Company and the Group had the following subsidiaries as at 31 December:

Name 
Country of 

incorporation   Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2012 2011

Held by the Company

Viking Offshore Global Pte. Ltd.
(f.k.a. Novena Investment
Pte Ltd)*

Singapore   Investment holding 100 100

Viking HVAC Pte Ltd* Singapore    Design, manufacture, project   
management, and commissioning of 
heating, ventilation, air conditioning  
systems, and refrigeration systems

100 100

Shine @ Spring Pte Ltd**** Singapore   Retail of beauty and
  personal care products

– 100

Fasta International Pte Ltd *** Singapore   Dormant 100 100
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name 
Country of 

incorporation   Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2012 2011

Held by the Company (cont’d)

Chuan Seng Leong Pte Ltd * Singapore    Distribution and wholesale of 
household, beauty and personal care 
products

80 80

Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd* Singapore    Manufacture and repair of marine 
engines and ship parts; retail and 
rental of marine equipment, marine 
accessories and parts

100 100

Viking Airtech Pte Ltd* Singapore    Design, manufacture, project 
management, and commissioning of 
heating, ventilation, air conditioning 
systems, and refrigeration systems

100 100

Marshal Systems Pte Ltd* Singapore    Contractors for electronic and 
electrical engineering works

100 100

Viking Facilities Management & 
Operations Pte. Ltd.*

Singapore   Facilities management 100 100

Held by subsidiaries

B.S.P. Global Pte Ltd *** Singapore   Dormant 100 100

Niclas International Pte Ltd **** Singapore   Retailer, importer and
  distributor of beauty and
  personal care products

– 100

Viking Airtech Yantai Co, Ltd ** People’s 
Republic of 

China

   Marine air conditioning, manufacture, 
installation & design of marine 
refrigerating equipment maritime 
HVAC & R

100 100

Viking Airtech Sdn Bhd ** Malaysia    Specializes in marine & offshore 
turkey HVAC & R systems

100 100
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name 
Country of 

incorporation   Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2012 2011

Held by subsidiaries (cont’d)

Viking Airtech (Shanghai) Co, 
Ltd**

People’s 
Republic of 

China

   Design, manufacture, project 
management, and commissioning of 
heating, ventilation, air conditioning 
systems, and refrigeration systems

100 100

PT Viking Airtech ** Indonesia    Design, manufacture, project 
management, and commissioning of 
heating, ventilation, air conditioning 
systems, and refrigeration systems 

100 100

* Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.

** Audited by other firms of auditors. The company is not significant as defined under Listing Rule 718 of 
the Singapore Exchange Listing Manual.

*** The company is currently undergoing voluntary liquidation.

**** The company was disposed off during the current financial year.

Impairment testing of investment in subsidiaries

There was no impairment loss recognised during the financial year (2011: $Nil).

Acquisition of subsidiaries

(a) On 18 August 2010, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd 
(“PHPL”).

The purchase price allocation (“PPA”) of the acquisition of PHPL in the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 were provisional as the valuation exercise was not completed at the date the 2010 
financial statement were authorised for issue. The final valuation of the inventories was completed in 
year 2011 and showed that the total fair value at the date of acquisition was $26,264,932, a decrease 
of $935,807 compared to the provisional value.

The 2010 comparative information has been restated to reflect this adjustment. The inventories and 
deferred tax liabilities value decreased by $1,127,479 and $191,672 respectively. There was also a 
corresponding reduction in the gain on bargain purchase of $935,807.
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a) The restated fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PHPL as at the date of acquisition 
were:

2010 2010

Fair value 
recognised 
as restated 

Provisional 
fair value as 
previously 

stated
$ $

Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment 1,602,145 1,602,145

Current assets
Inventories 27,047,755 28,175,234
Trade receivables 1,399,252 1,399,252
Other receivables and deposits 454 454
Tax recoverable 64,742 64,742
Cash and cash equivalent 237,229 237,229

Total assets 30,351,577 31,479,056

Current liabilities
Trade payables (862,626) (862,626)
Other payables and accruals (205,606) (205,606)

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities (3,018,413) (3,210,085)

Total liabilities (4,086,645) (4,278,317)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 26,264,932 27,200,739
Less: Gain on bargain purchase (4,014,932) (4,950,739)

Total purchase consideration 22,250,000 22,250,000
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

2010
$

Consideration for 100% of PHPL

Cash paid 10,000,000
Equity instruments issued 4,250,000
Deferred cash settlement 8,000,000

22,250,000

The effect of acquisition on cash flows is as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 22,250,000
Less: Non-cash consideration (4,250,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (237,229)
Less: Net cash outflow in year 2010 (9,762,771)
Net cash outflow in year 2011 8,000,000

(i) In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in PHPL, 19,906,000 new ordinary 
shares as part of the total purchase consideration were issued to the vendor on 15 January 
2011 at a fair value of $0.2135 each. An amount of $8,000,000 of the deferred cash settlement 
was paid on 15 January 2011.

(ii) The fair valuation of the identifiable net assets of PHPL has been finalised in year 2011. The 
acquisition of the 100% equity interest in PHPL on 18 August 2010 resulted in the recognition 
of a gain on bargain purchase of $4,014,932.

(b) On 1 December 2010, the Company acquired the 100% equity interest in Marshal Systems Pte Ltd 
(“MSPL”).

The purchase price allocation (“PPA”) of the acquisition of MSPL in the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 were provisional as the result of the PPA exercise was not completed at 
the date the 2010 financial statement were authorised for issue. In year 2011, the Group engaged 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to perform the PPA exercise on the assets and liabilities of MSPL. 
The final PPA report was completed in year 2011 and showed that the total fair value at the date of 
acquisition was $8,210,905, an increase of $1,934,730 compared to the provisional value.

The 2010 comparative information has been restated to reflect this adjustment. Intangibles assets of 
$2,331,000 was identified and the deferred tax liabilities value increased by $396,270. There was also 
a corresponding reduction in goodwill of $2,329,592, to give a total goodwill arising on the acquisition 
of $8,394,233. The amortisation expenses on the intangibles assets from the acquisition date to 
31 December 2010 increased by $363,000.
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

(b) The restated fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MSPL as at the date of acquisition 
were:

2010 2010

Fair value 
recognised 
as restated

Provisional 
fair value as 
previously 

stated 
$ $

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 387,970 387,970
Intangible assets 2,331,000 –

Current assets
Inventories 13,303 13,303
Due from customers on contracts 1,334,131 1,334,131
Trade receivables 2,257,767 2,257,767
Other receivables and deposits 138,961 138,961
Cash and cash balances 4,923,928 4,923,928

Total assets 11,387,060 9,056,060

Current liabilities
Due to customers on contracts (318,027) (318,027)
Trade payables (1,268,633) (1,268,633)
Other payables and accruals (283,149) (283,149)
Lease obligations (52,645) (52,645)
Current income tax liability (700,846) (700,846)

Non-current liabilities
Lease obligations (89,185) (89,185)
Deferred tax liabilities (463,670) (67,400)

Total liabilities (3,176,155) (2,779,885)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 8,210,905 6,276,175
Goodwill arising from acquisition 8,394,233 10,723,825

Total purchase consideration 16,605,138 17,000,000
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

2010
$

Consideration for 100% of MSPL

Cash paid 3,000,000
Equity instruments issued 4,742,316
Deferred cash settlement 8,862,822

16,605,138

The effect of acquisition on cash flows is as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 16,605,138
Less: Non-cash consideration (4,742,316)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (4,923,928)
Less: Net cash inflow in year 2010 1,923,928
Add: Imputed interest on deferred payment 152,279
Net cash outflow in year 2011 9,015,101

(i) In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in MSPL, 31,211,000 new 
ordinary shares as part of the total purchase consideration were issue to the vendor. The 
remaining balance of the purchase consideration made up of deferred cash settlement of 
$8,862,822 and imputed interest of $152,279 was paid in year 2011.

(ii) The fair valuation of the identifiable net assets of MSPL has been finalised in year 2011. The 
acquisition of the 100% equity interest in MSPL on 1 December 2010 resulted in the recognition 
of goodwill of $8,394,233.
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

(c) On 7 March 2011, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Viking Facilities Management & 
Operations Pte. Ltd. (“VFMO”). The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of VFMO as at 
the acquisition date were:

2011
Fair value 

recognised
$

Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment 14,992,773

Current assets
Other receivables and deposits 11,129
Cash and cash equivalents 11,110

Total assets 15,015,012

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals (106,767)
Current income tax liability (12,954)

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities (1,651,877)

Total liabilities (1,771,598)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 13,243,414
Less: Gain on bargain purchase (3,163,414)

Total purchase consideration 10,080,000
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

2011
$

Consideration for 100% of VFMO

Cash paid 10,080,000

The effect of acquisition on cash flows is as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 10,080,000
Less: Prepaid deposits in year 2010 (1,008,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (11,110)
Net cash outflow on acquisition in year 2011 9,060,890

(i) In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in VFMO, deposits of $1,008,000 
was paid to vendor on signing of the sales and purchase agreement in year 2010. The 
remaining balance of $9,072,000 was paid in cash to the vendor in January 2011.

(ii) VFMO derive rental income solely from the leasehold building which are currently occupied 
by the wholly owned subsidiaries within the Group. The impact to the profit or loss from the 
utilisation of the leasehold building owned by VFMO cannot be derived easily as this would 
require significant judgement and assumption to estimate.

(iii) Transaction costs related to the acquisition of $75,160 have been recognised in the 
“Administrative Expenses” line item in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income for the 
year ended 31 December 2011.

(iv) The acquisition of 100% equity interest in VFMO on 7 March 2011 resulted in the recognition of 
a gain on bargain purchase of $3,163,414.
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15. Quoted equity investments

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $
Non-current

Available-for-sale financial assets 715,230 2,198,584 705,600 2,185,209

Quoted equity investments pledged as security

The Group’s quoted equity investments amounting to $700,000 (2011: $950,000) has been pledged as a 
security for loans and borrowings (Note 28). Under the terms and conditions of the loans and borrowings, the 
Group is prohibited from disposing these investments or subjecting it to further charges without furnishing a 
replacement security of similar value.

16. Unquoted equity investments

Group and Company
2012 2011

$ $

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 2,707,792 2,707,792
Impairment loss (2,707,792) (2,707,792)

– –

Unquoted equity investment represents equity interest of 19.86% in Marine Accomm Pte Ltd (“MAPL”).

In year 2010, the Company acquired 55% interest in MAPL. The original cost of acquisition amounted to 
$7.5 million of which $6.5 million was paid. Subsequent to the acquisition and before the end of the year 
2010, the Company disposed off 35.14% interest in MAPL at cost for a consideration of $4.792 million. As 
at 31 December 2012, $3.792 million was still outstanding and was recorded in the other receivables (2011: 
$3.792 million) (Note 19).

The results of MAPL have not been consolidated or equity accounted into the Group’s results as the 
Company had not been able to exercise effective control or significant influence over MAPL. This includes 
management’s inability to govern the financial and operating polices or exercise significant influence over 
MAPL so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

In year 2011, in view of developments stated in Note 40, the Company recorded full impairment of the 
investment in MAPL.
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17. Inventories

Group
2012 2011

$ $
Balance sheet:
Raw materials 3,519,653 3,979,075
Work-in-progress 4,835,952 5,326,148
Finished goods 14,419,285 18,293,077

22,774,890 27,598,300

Statement of comprehensive income:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 61,998,558 57,065,616
Inclusive of the following charge:
   - Inventories written-down 355,624 –

18. Trade receivables

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Trade receivables 13,248,312 13,806,182
Allowance for doubtful debts (9,891) (9,891)

13,238,421 13,796,291

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days terms. They are recognised at 
their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivable arising from export sales amounting to $851,942 (2011: 
$1,458,350) are arranged to be settled via letters of the credit issued by reputable bank in countries where 
the customers are based.

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

United States Dollar 1,625,489 2,382,923
Euro – 176,929
Malaysian Ringgit 795,027 108,946
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18. Trade receivables (cont’d)

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to $5,969,254 (2011: $6,785,366) that are past due at the 
balance sheet date but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their ageing at the 
balance sheet date is as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $
Trade receivables past due but not impaired:

 Less than 30 days 2,672,017 1,525,757
 30 to 60 days 1,527,554 517,011
 61 to 90 days 979,342 1,180,106
 More than 90 days 790,341 3,562,492

5,969,254 6,785,366

Receivables that are impaired

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group
Collectively impaired Individually impaired
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables – nominal amounts – – 9,891 9,891
Less: Allowance for impairment – – (9,891) (9,891)

– – – –

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 January – – 9,891 158,347
Charge for the year – – – 9,891
Reversal of allowance for impairment – – – (29,925)
Written off – – – (128,422)
At 31 December – – 9,891 9,891

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors 
that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured 
by any collateral or credit enhancements.
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19. Other receivables and deposits

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

Deposits 1,129,690 738,983 861,808 29,048
Other receivables 5,030,083 5,031,609 4,540,389 3,817,285
Due from investee company 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000
Allowance for doubtful debts (5,002,109) (5,098,770) (5,002,109)  (5,002,109)

3,357,664 2,871,822 2,600,088 1,044,224

Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days terms. Included in other 
receivables is $3,792,208 (2011: $3,792,208) due from a shareholder of Marine Accomm Pte Ltd (“MAPL”) 
(Note 16). The amount due from investee company (MAPL) is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

In 2011, an allowance for doubtful debt of $2,792,000 and $2,200,000 was made for amount due from a 
shareholder of MAPL and amount due from MAPL, respectively, net of other payables of $1,000,000 (2012: 
$1,000,000) (Note 24).

In addition, included in other receivables is $263,862 (2011: $Nil) related to the deferred consideration for the 
disposal of the subsidiaries (Note 11). The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

20. Gross amount due from/(to) customers for contracts work-in-progress

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Contract costs incurred to date 44,339,868 38,751,886
Recognised profits less recognised losses to date 9,538,383 13,875,670

53,878,251 52,627,556
Progress billing (46,631,977) (46,617,022)

7,246,274 6,010,534

Represented as:

Gross amount due from customers on contracts 7,829,537 7,247,236
Gross amount due to customers on contracts (583,263) (1,236,702)

7,246,274 6,010,534

Advances received on contracts (Note 24) 575,190 832,948
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21. Cash and short-term deposits

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

Cash at banks and on hand 11,648,230 8,901,042 822,188 12,725
Short-term deposits 
- Secured – 404,379 – –
- Unsecured – 99,961 – –
Cash and short-term deposits 11,648,230 9,405,382 822,188 12,725

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made 
for varying periods of between 7 days to 12 months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group, and earn interest at short-term deposit rates ranging at 0.05% to 0.3% (2011: 0.05% to 0.3%) per 
annum.

Cash and short-term deposits denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

United States Dollar 1,771,071 2,359,355
Chinese Renminbi 69,847 154,925
Malaysian Ringgit 50,105 347,317
Euro 277,145 23,159

Secured short-term deposits are pledged to secure performance guarantees, bank loans, bills payable and 
bank overdrafts granted by the banks.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 
at the end of the reporting period:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Cash and short-term deposits 11,648,230 9,405,382
Short-term deposits (secured) and pledged deposits – (404,379)
Bank overdrafts (Note 28) – (205,641)
Cash and cash equivalents 11,648,230 8,795,362
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22. Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 - 90 days terms.

Trade payable denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$ $

United States Dollar 767,711 962,724
Norwegian Krone 38,610 160,405
Euro 611,840 15,099
Chinese Renminbi 891,420 90,619

23. Unearned revenue

Unearned revenue relates to service packages entered into with customers to the extent that services have 
not been rendered and revenue has not been recognised.

24. Other payables and accruals

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

Accrued operating expenses 1,615,328 2,553,719 247,249 333,391
Deferred revenue 56,020 8,167 – –
Customers’ deposits 364,111 – – –
Advance payments from customers (Note 20) 575,190 832,948 – –
Other payables 1,988,185 1,793,300 1,447,954 1,380,081
Due to a director – 1,000,000 – 1,000,000
Rental deposits received 267,259 – 267,259 –

4,866,093 6,188,134 1,962,462 2,713,472

Other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 - 90 days terms. Included in other 
payables is an amount due to a shareholder of MAPL of $1,000,000 (2011: $1,000,000) (Note 19).

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and is expected to be settled 
in cash.
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25. Deferred rental

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $
Cost

At 1 January 1,398,000 1,398,000 – –
Addition – – 341,176 –
Disposal of a subsidiary (1,056,824) – – –
At 31 December 341,176 1,398,000 341,176 –

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January (965,285) (765,571) – –
Amortisation during the year (199,714) (199,714) (108,177) –
Disposal of a subsidiary 1,056,822 – – –
At 31 December (108,177) (965,285) (108,177) –

Net Book Value

Current 199,714 199,714 199,714 –
Non-current 33,285 233,001 33,285 –
At 31 December 232,999 432,715 232,999 –

In year 2007, a subsidiary in the Group entered into an agreement for sale and leaseback of a property. 
Deferred rental relates to the difference between the selling price and the fair value of the property. This 
difference is amortised over the lease term of the property of 7 years on a straight line basis.

In year 2012, the Company disposed off the subsidiary and the agreement for the sale and leaseback of 
property was transferred to the Company.

26. Due to subsidiaries (non-trade)

Except as disclosed below, these balances are unsecured, interest-free, are repayable on demand and are 
expected to be settled in cash.

Due to subsidiaries (non-trade)

Included in the amount due to subsidiaries during the year is an amount of $3,500,000 (2011: $4,800,000) 
which is in relation to a term loan drawn down by a subsidiary (Note 28(a) Loan A). The interest on the term 
loan is recharged back to the Company. The term loan bears interest rate of 2.94% (2011: 2.87% to 2.94%) 
per annum.
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27. Lease obligations

Group
Minimum

lease
payments Interest

Present
value of

payments
$ $ $

2012
1 year to 5 years 126,315 (14,022) 112,293
Not later than 1 year 78,087 (9,176) 68,911

204,402 (23,198) 181,204
2011
1 year to 5 years 219,695 (30,018) 189,677
Later than 5 years 8,943 (1,556) 7,387

228,638 (31,574) 197,064
Not later than 1 year 79,791 (11,169) 68,622

308,429 (42,743) 265,686

Obligations under finance lease are secured by a charge over the leased asset (Note 12).

Lease terms range from 1 to 5 years with options to purchase at the end of the lease term. Lease terms do 
not contain restrictions concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing. The average discount rate 
implicit in the Group’s lease obligations are 4.04% to 7.67% (2011: 4.33% to 7.67%) per annum.

28. Loans and borrowings

(a) Term loans - secured

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $
Current liabilities
Short-term loans:
 - Loan A 3,500,000 4,800,000 – –

Current portion of long-term loans:
 - Loan B 784,118 1,596,125 784,118 1,596,125
 - Loan C 824,000  824,000 – –

1,608,118 2,420,125 784,118 1,596,125

Total current liabilities 5,108,118 7,220,125 784,118 1,596,125
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28. Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

(a) Term loans – secured (cont’d)

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans:
Later than one year but not later 
   than five years
 - Loan C 3,296,018 3,296,018 – –
Later than five years
 - Loan C 2,677,977 3,501,979 – –
Total non-current liabilities 5,973,995 6,797,997 – –

Loan A

The SGD term loans bear interest rate of 2.94% (2011: 2.87% to 2.94%) per annum and are repayable 
on demand. The loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the subsidiary’s assets and 
corporate guarantee of the Company.

Loan B

The SGD term loan bears interest rate of 5.75% (2011: 5.75%) per annum and is repayable on 
demand. The loan is secured by deed of guarantee and indemnity for all monies from the subsidiaries. 
The loan includes a financial covenant which requires the Group to maintain a consolidated networth 
not less than $44 million throughout the tenor of the loan.

The loan was fully repaid on 8 January 2013.

Loan C

The SGD term loan bears interest at 1.65% per annum above the cost of funds at the bank. During the 
financial year, interest was charged at an average effective rate of 2.10% (2011: 2.02%) per annum. 
The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage on the subsidiary’s leasehold properties (Note 12). The 
loan is repayable in 120 monthly instalments commencing on 7 April 2011.

(b) Bank overdrafts

Quoted equity investments are pledge to secure bank overdrafts (Note 15) and bear interest at Nil% 
(2011:2.5% to 6.25%) per annum.

(c) Bills payable

The interest rate of bills payable ranges from 1.98% to 3.85% (2011: 2.17% to 3.25%) per annum. 
These bills mature within 3 months from year end.
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29. Investment in associate

Group
2012 2011

$ $
(a) Investment in associate comprise: 

Unquoted equity shares, at cost – –
Share of reserves – –
Carrying amount – –

(b) Details of the associate company at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Name 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2012 2011

Shenzhen Calo Enersave 
Furniture Co. Ltd *

People’s 
Republic of

China

Manufacture and retail of office, 
household and custom-made 
furniture

26 26

* Audited by Yuehua Certified Public Accountants Co. Ltd, Shenzhen, PRC in prior years. The 
associate company is not significant as defined under Listing Rule 718 of the Singapore 
Exchange Listing Manual.

In the current year and prior years, financial information is not available to the Group from its associate 
company as it has been dormant and in the process of liquidation. All investment in the associate 
company has been fully written off in prior years.

30. Share capital and treasury shares

(a) Share capital

Group and Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

No. of shares No. of shares $ $
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

At 1 January 602,289,333 551,172,333 79,338,578 70,088,644
Issue of new shares:
- Issuance of shares in relation to 
     acquisitions (Note 14(a)/(b)) – 51,117,000 – 9,249,934
At 31 December 602,289,333 602,289,333 79,338,578 79,338,578

The holders of ordinary shares (except for treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and 
when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The 
ordinary shares have no par value.
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30. Share capital and treasury shares (cont’d)

(a) Share capital (cont’d)

During the year, no warrants were issued by the Company (2011: Nil). As at the end of the financial 
year, there were 105,794,416 (2011: 105,794,416) warrants outstanding, which expired on 18 January 
2013.

The Company has employee share option plans under which options to subscribe for the Company’s 
ordinary shares have been granted to employees of the Group (Refer to Note 5 for details).

(b) Treasury shares

Group and Company
2012

No. of shares
2011

No. of shares
2012

$
2011

$

At 1 January – – – –
Purchased during the year (6,717,000) – (731,244) –
At 31 December (6,717,000) – (731,244) –

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that is held by the Company.

The Company acquired 6,717,000 (2011: Nil) shares in the Company through purchases on the 
Singapore Exchange during the financial year. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was 
$731,244 (2011: $Nil) and this was presented as a component within shareholders’ equity.

31. Other reserves

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

Foreign currency translation reserve (a) (108,616) 104,988 – –
Fair value adjustment reserve (b) (336,639) (1,843,641) (302,399) (1,813,146)
Share options reserve (c) 341,807 799,398 341,807 799,398
Closing balance at 31 December (103,448) (939,255) 39,408 (1,013,748)
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31. Other reserves (cont’d)

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve relates to exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from that of 
the Group’s presentation currency.

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

At 1 January (104,988) 232,211 – –
Net effect of exchange differences 213,604 (337,199) – –
At 31 December 108,616 (104,988) – –

(b) Fair value adjustment reserve

Fair value adjustment reserve records the cumulative fair value changes of available-for-sale financial 
assets until they are derecognised or impaired.

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

At 1 January (1,843,641) 17,395,383 (1,813,146) 17,401,803
- Fair value gain/(loss) 5,400,087 (8,965,746) 5,403,832 (8,941,671)
- Transfer to profit or loss upon disposal (3,893,085) (10,273,278) (3,893,085) (10,273,278)
At 31 December (336,639) (1,843,641) (302,399) (1,813,146)

(c) Share options reserve

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

At 1 January 799,398 426,934 799,398 426,934
Grant of equity-settled share options 213,407 403,364 213,407 403,364
Expiry of equity-settled share option (670,998) (30,900) (670,998) (30,900)
At 31 December 341,807 799,398 341,807 799,398
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32. Dividends

Group and Company
2012 2011

$ $
Declared and paid during the year

Dividends on ordinary shares
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2011: 0.2 cents per share 
     (2010: 0.3 cents per share) 1,247,955* 1,691,203*

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December

Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM:
- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2012: 0.1 cent per share 
     (2011: 0.2 cents per share) 595,572 1,204,579

* The difference between the proposed dividend and the amount declared and paid is due to the 
increase in the number of ordinary shares subsequent to year end.

33. Related party information

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant 
transactions with related parties on terms agreed between the parties, were as follows:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $
Income
Management service income from 

subsidiaries – – 2,502,540 2,577,723
Dividend from subsidiaries – – 3,678,348 2,000,000
Rental of office premise to a company 

in which a director is also a director 
and a shareholder 76,731 61,328 76,731 61,328

Interest on loan to a subsidiary – – – 1,150

Expenses
Rental of office premise from subsidiary – – 103,164 58,800
Services provided by subsidiary – – 100,414 20,050
Consultancy services provided by a 

company in which a director is also a 
director and a shareholder – 18,000 – 18,000

Interest on loan from a subsidiary – – 114,466 97,334

Company related to a director

One of the directors of the Company holds a controlling interest in Blue Ocean Capital Partners 
(“BOCP”). In year 2011, BOCP provided consultancy services to the Group. Net balance due from 
BOCP amounted to $310 as at balance sheet date (2011: $2,849).
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33. Related party information (cont’d)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

Group
2012 2011

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 2,702,018 2,352,000
Central Provident Fund contributions 69,609 53,903
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,771,627 2,405,903

Comprise amounts paid to:
- Directors of the Company 1,582,813 1,408,639
- Other key management personnel 1,188,814 997,264

2,771,627 2,405,903

The remuneration of key management personnel are determined by the remuneration committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Directors’ interests in employee share option plan

During the financial year:

- No (2011: Nil) share options were granted to the Company’s directors under the Novena share 
option scheme (Note 5).

- No (2011: Nil) Novena share options were exercised.

- 7,500,000 (2011: Nil) share options were granted to the Company’s directors under the VOM 
share option scheme (Note 5). At an exercise price of $0.11 (2011: $Nil) each.

- No (2011: Nil) VOM share options were exercised.

At the balance sheet date, the total number of outstanding share options granted by the Company to 
directors under the Scheme amounted to 7,500,000 (2011: 7,200,000).
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34. Commitments

(a) Operating lease commitments – as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases for a building, retail outlets and office premises. These 
leases have remaining average tenure of between 1 to 20 years with options for renewal. The Group is 
not restricted from subleasing the property to third parties.

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 
are as follows:

Group 
2012 2011

$ $

- Not later than 1 year 3,308,311 4,832,911
- 1 year through 5 years 1,697,833 6,260,253
- Later than 5 years 6,343,083 6,636,816

11,349,227 17,729,980

(b) Operating lease commitments – as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial leases on a leased property. These non-cancellable leases 
have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of 1 to 3 years.

Future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as 
follows:

Group 
2012 2011

$ $

- Not later than 1 year 1,723,137 1,866,641
- 1 year through 5 years 75,913 1,321,839

1,799,050 3,188,480
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35. Fair value of financial instruments

(a) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value 
hierarchy:

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical 

instruments

Significant 
observable 
inputs other 
than quoted 

prices

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Group
2012
Financial assets:
Quoted equity investments (Note 15)
   - Available-for-sale financial assets 715,230 – – 715,230

2011
Financial assets:
Quoted equity investments (Note 15)
   - Available-for-sale financial assets 2,198,584 – – 2,198,584

Fair value hierarchy

The Group classify fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:

	 Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

	 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), and

	 Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs)

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial years ended 2012 and 
2011.

Quoted equity investments (Note 15)

Fair value is determined by direct reference to their bid price quotations in an active market at the 
balance sheet date.
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35. Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

Cash and cash equivalents, other current financial assets and liabilities and non-current loans and 
borrowings at floating rate

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are the reasonable approximation of fair 
values, either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced 
to market interest rates on or near the balance sheet date.

(c) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are not the reasonable approximation of fair values are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

Carrying
amount Fair value

Carrying
amount Fair value

$ $ $ $
Financial assets/(liabilities)

Obligation under finance leases (181,204) (188,099) (265,686) (277,888)
Unquoted equity investment, at cost – * – *

* Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investment in unquoted equity 
investment that are carried at cost because fair value cannot be measured reliably. Unquoted 
equity investment represents 19.86% (2011: 19.86%) of total ordinary shares in Marine Accomm 
Pte Ltd which has been fully impaired in the prior year.

Fair value of obligations under finance leases

The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected future 
cash flows at market incremental lending rates for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing 
arrangements at the end of the reporting period.
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36. Classification of financial assets and liabilities

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $
Available-for-sale financial assets
Quoted equity investments 715,230 2,198,584 705,600 2,185,209

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables 13,238,421 13,796,291 – –
Other receivables and deposits 2,905,241 2,076,680 2,600,088 1,044,224
Cash and short-term deposits 11,648,230 9,405,382 822,188 12,725

27,791,892 25,278,353 3,422,276 1,056,949

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables 7,623,955 7,514,483 – –
Bills payable 2,141,044 771,178 – –
Other payables and accruals 3,603,513 5,347,019 1,695,203 2,713,472
Lease obligations 181,204 265,686 – –
Term loans 11,082,113 14,018,122 784,118 1,596,125
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 27,135,065 32,244,129
Bank overdrafts – 205,641 – 205,641

24,631,829 28,122,129 29,614,386 36,759,367

37. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use 
of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign 
currency risk and market price risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for 
the management of these risks, which are executed by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee provides 
independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. It is, and has been throughout 
the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative 
purposes shall be undertaken.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arise primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including quoted equity investments and cash 
and cash equivalents), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with 
high credit rating counterparties.
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. 
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that do not occur in 
the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the approval 
of the Assistant General Manager.

Excessive risk concentration

Concentration arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability 
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the group’s performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the group’s policies and procedures include specific 
guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are 
controlled and managed accordingly.

Exposure to credit risk

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk are 
represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with 
good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial 
institutions.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 18.
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector 
profile of its trade receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s 
trade receivables at the balance sheet date is as follows:

2012 2011
$ % of total $ % of total

Group

By country:
Singapore 9,192,981 69% 11,380,187 83%
People’s Republic of China 994,573 7% 575,929 4%
Vietnam 491,079 4% 1,020,348 7%
Malaysia 1,001,565 8% 287,548 2%
Others 1,558,223 12% 532,279 4%

13,238,421 100% 13,796,291 100%

By industry sectors:
Distribution 3,760,665 28% 3,136,343 23%
Offshore and marine 9,477,756 72% 10,659,948 77%

13,238,421 100% 13,796,291 100%

The Group and the Company have no significant concentration of credit risk.

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the 
Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arise primarily from their loans and borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the balance sheet date, if SGD interest rates had been 50 (2011: 50) basis points lower/higher 
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax would have been $55,411 (2011: 
$71,119) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans 
and borrowings. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based 
on the currently observable market environment, showing a lower volatility as in prior years.
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arise 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the 
Company’s objective are to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of stand-by credit facilities.

The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management policy is that to maintain sufficient liquid 
financial assets and stand-by credit facilities with their different bankers. At the balance sheet date, 
approximately 46% (2011: 52%) of the Group’s term loans (Note 28) will mature in less than one year 
based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements.

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets 
and liabilities at the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

2012 2011

1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

After 5
years Total

1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

After 5
years Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group

Financial assets:

Quoted equity investments – 715,230 – 715,230 – 2,198,584 – 2,198,584

Trade receivables 13,238,421 – – 13,238,421 13,796,291 – – 13,796,291

Other receivables and 
deposits 2,905,241 – – 2,905,241 2,076,680 – – 2,076,680

Cash and short -term 
deposits 11,648,230 – – 11,648,230 9,405,382 – – 9,405,382

Total undiscounted financial 
assets 27,791,892 715,230 – 28,507,122 25,278,353 2,198,584 – 27,476,937

Financial liabilities:

Trade payables 7,623,955 – – 7,623,955 7,514,483 – – 7,514,483

Bills payable 2,141,044 – – 2,141,044 771,178 – – 771,178

Other payables and accruals 3,603,513 – – 3,603,513 5,347,019 – – 5,347,019

Lease obligations 78,087 126,315 – 204,402 79,791 228,638 – 308,429

Term loans 5,268,520 3,662,137 2,771,664 11,702,321 7,457,211 4,601,229 2,767,981 14,826,421

Bank overdraft – – – – 205,641 – – 205,641

Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 18,715,119 3,788,452 2,771,664 25,275,235 21,375,323 4,829,867 2,767,981 28,973,171

Total net undiscounted 
financial assets/(liabilities) 9,076,773 (3,073,222) (2,771,664) 3,231,887 3,903,030 (2,631,283) (2,767,981) (1,496,234)
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

2012 2011
1 year or 

less

1 to 5

years Total

1 year or 

less

1 to 5

years Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Company

Financial assets:
Quoted equity investments – 705,600  705,600 – 2,185,209 2,185,209
Other receivables and deposits 2,600,088 – 2,600,088 1,044,224 – 1,044,224 
Cash and cash equivalents 822,188 – 822,188 12,725 – 12,725
Total undiscounted financial assets 3,422,276 705,600 4,127,876 1,056,949 2,185,209 3,242,158

Financial liabilities:
Other payables 1,695,203 – 1,695,203 2,713,472 – 2,713,472
Term loans 801,004 – 801,004 1,673,275 – 1,673,275
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) 27,135,065 – 27,135,065 32,244,129 – 32,244,129
Bank overdraft – – – 205,641 – 205,641
Total undiscounted financial 

liabilities 29,631,272 – 29,631,272 36,836,517 – 36,836,517

Total net undiscounted financial 

assets/(liabilities) (26,208,996) 705,600 (25,503,396) (35,779,568) 2,185,209 (33,594,359)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group had transactional currency exposures arising from purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily SGD, Chinese 
Renminbi (RMB) and Malaysian Ringgit (MYR). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are 
denominated are mainly United States Dollar (USD). Approximately 20% (2011: 26%) of the Group’s 
sales are denominated in foreign currencies whilst almost 25% (2011: 28%) of costs are denominated 
in the respective functional currencies of the Group entities. The Group’s trade receivable and trade 
payable balances at the end of the reporting period have similar exposures.

It is not the Group’s policy to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange contracts for hedging and 
speculative purposes.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign 
operations, including Malaysia, the People’s Republic of China (PRC) and Indonesia. The Group’s net 
investments in Malaysia, the PRC and Indonesia are not hedged as currency positions in Malaysian 
Ringgit, RMB and Indonesian Rupiah are considered to be long-term in nature.

157Viking Offshore and Marine Limited  annual report 2012



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD, RMB, 
Euro and MYR exchange rates (against SGD), with all other variables held constant.

Group
2012 2011

Profit net
of tax 

Profit net
of tax 

$ $

USD - strengthened 5% (2011: 5%) 124,805 287,903
 - weakened 5% (2011: 5%) (124,805) (287,903)

RMB - strengthened 5% (2011: 5%) (52,952) 21,885
 - weakened 5% (2011: 5%) 52,952 (21,885)

Euro - strengthened 5% (2011: 5%) (16,735) 10,759
 - weakened 5% (2011: 5%) 16,735 (10,759)

MYR - strengthened 5% (2011: 5%) 36,461 41,805
 - weakened 5% (2011: 5%) (36,461) (41,805)

(e) Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or 
exchange rates). The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity 
investments. These investments are quoted on the SGX-ST in Singapore and are classified as held for 
trading or available-for-sale financial assets.

The Group’s objective is to manage investment returns and equity price risk using a mix of investment 
grade shares with steady dividend yield and non-investment grade shares with higher volatility as 
determined by the Board of Directors. All investments are approved by the Board of Directors.

Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

At the balance sheet date, if the STI had been 5% (2011: 5%) higher/lower with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s other reserve in equity would have been $35,762 (2011: $109,929) higher/lower, 
arising as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale.
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38. Capital management

Capital includes debt and equity items as disclosed in the table below.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, 
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011. The Group is not 
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by total capital plus total debt. 
The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio less than 60%. The Group includes within total debt, loans 
and borrowings, trade and other payables and other liabilities based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligation. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners of the Company including fair value adjustment 
reserve.

Group 
2012 2011

$ $

Total debt (Note 37(c)) 25,275,235 28,973,171

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 79,114,765 78,947,457
Add:- Fair value adjustment reserve (Note 31(b)) 336,639 1,843,641
Total capital 79,451,404 80,791,098

Capital and total debt 104,726,639 109,764,269

Gearing ratio 24% 26%

39. Segmental information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, 
and has three operating segments, namely, the Retail and Distribution segment, the Offshore and Marine 
segment and the Corporate segment. During the year, the Group disposed off its Retail segment.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable 
operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently 
from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group financing (including finance 
costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions 
with third parties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

39. Segmental information (cont’d)

Notes: Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements 

A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B Other non-cash expenses consist share-based payments, inventories written-down, provisions, 
and impairment of financial assets as presented in the respective notes to the financial 
statements.

C Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets, investment in subsidiaries and investment in quoted and unquoted equities.

D The following items are deducted from segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet:

2012 2011

$ $

Inter-segment assets (69,431,311) (72,236,094)

E The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities 
reported in the consolidated balance sheet:

Deferred tax liabilities 4,062,397 4,849,993
Income tax payable 1,751,785 2,150,360
Loans and borrowings 11,082,113 14,018,122
Inter-segment liabilities (30,935,346) (34,922,428)

Geographical information

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows:

Revenues Non-current assets
2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ $ $

Singapore 60,826,469 55,540,859 51,969,419 54,336,448
People’s Republic of China 10,827,564 13,778,163 332,980 436,931
Vietnam 913,817 4,765,604 – –
Australia 6,055,549 2,197,795 – –
Others 8,694,645 7,691,016 37,354 17,234

87,318,044 83,973,437 52,339,753 54,790,613

Non-current assets information presented above consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2012

39. Segmental information (cont’d)

Information about major customer

There is no revenue from any major customer, arising from sales by the Offshore and Marine segment or the 
Distribution segment.

40. Other information

In year 2011, the Company filed a complaint to the Commercial Affairs Department of suspected financial 
irregularities in the affairs of the investee company, Marine Accomm Pte Ltd (“MAPL”), as well as contesting 
a claim of indemnity by the former director of MAPL.

In year 2012, the former director of MAPL, has withdrawn his counterclaim against the Company. As of 
29 October 2012, the legal proceedings commenced by the former director of MAPL against the Company 
have been discontinued. The former director of MAPL was ordered by the Singapore High Court to pay the 
Company costs for the withdrawal of his action.

41. Subsequent events

(i) On 14 February 2013, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party in 
relation to the sale of its entire 320,000 issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the subsidiary company, 
Chuan Seng Leong Pte Ltd (“CSL”), representing 80% of the issued and paid-up capital of CSL. As 
at the date of this report, the sale has not been completed. Upon completion of the disposal, CSL will 
cease to be a subsidiary of the Company.

(ii) On 11 March 2013, the Company announced that it is undertaking a renounceable and partially 
underwritten rights issue of up to 119,514,466 new ordinary shares of the Company with up to 
119,514,466 free detachable warrants, on the basis of one right share for every five existing shares 
held by shareholders of the Company and one warrant for every one rights share subscribed.

42. Authorisation of financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 were authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the directors on 2 April 2013.
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Class of shares -  Ordinary shares 
Voting rights -  On a show of hands, one vote for each member
 -  On a poll, one vote for each ordinary share

Analysis of Shareholdings 

Range of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders % No. of Shares %

             1 -  999 207 8.87 34,586 0.00
       1,000 - 10,000 467 20.01 2,950,018 0.49
     10,001 - 1,000,000 1,607 68.85 140,616,727 23.35
 1,000,001 and above 53 2.27 458,688,002 76.16

2,334 100.00 602,289,333  100.00

Based on the information available to the Company as at 25 March 2013, approximately 57% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of 
Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited is complied with.

Top 20 Shareholders

S/No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares Held %*

1 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd    128,210,000 21.53
2 Viking Engineering Pte Ltd      74,256,000 12.47
3 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd      30,365,000 5.10
4 Ong Choo Guan      20,900,000 3.51
5 Tay Mong Seng                      17,166,050 2.88
6 Yeo Seng Buck      15,811,000 2.65
7 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd      14,846,000 2.49
8 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd      13,893,759 2.33
9 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd      11,234,784 1.89
10 Chiang Tin Tiah       9,830,000 1.65
11 OCBC Securities Private Ltd       8,956,633 1.50
12 Xue Chunxia                         7,344,000 1.23
13 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd       6,183,758 1.04
14 Cheah Yee Ping (Xie Yiping)       6,000,000 1.01
15 Chan Kok Kheng                      5,420,925 0.91
16 Chan Kok Hoe       5,140,925 0.86
17 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd       4,644,016 0.78
18 HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd       4,633,000 0.78
19 Wong Poh Hwa @ Kwai Seng       4,500,000 0.76
20 Wang Jin       4,006,000 0.67

 393,341,850 66.04

* The percentage of shareholdings was computed based on the issued share capital of the Company as at 
25 March 2013 of 595,572,333 shares (which excludes 6,717,000 shares which are held as treasury shares 
representing approximately 1.13% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares).

shareholding statistics
As at 25 March 2013
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Substantial Shareholders as at 25 March 2013

Name 

Number of 
shares registered 

in the name 
of substantial 
shareholders 

Number of 
shares in which 
the substantial 
shareholder is 

deemed to have 
an interest Total %

Lim Andy (1) 140,984,000 17,500,000 158,484,000 26.61
Viking Engineering Pte Ltd 74,256,000 - 74,256,000 12.47
Johansson Bo Robert (2)  - 74,256,000 74,256,000 12.47
Sune Gustaf Sigvard Andersson (2) - 74,256,000 74,256,000 12.47

Notes:

(1) Mr Andy Lim has a direct interest in 140,984,000 shares which are registered and held through the following 
Nominees:

Nominees Shares
HSBC Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd 118,141,000 

Citibank Nominess Singapore Pte Ltd 14,343,000

Hong Leong Finance Nominess Pte Ltd 8,500,000

Mr Lim Andy is the beneficial owner of the above shares. Mr Andy Lim is further deemed interested in the 
remaining 17,500,000 shares held by Associated Leisure International Pte Ltd whereby he holds a 99% 
shareholding interest. 

(2) Mr Johansson Bo Robert and Mr Sune Gustaf Sigvard Andersson are the substantial shareholders (50% 
each) of Viking Engineering Pte Ltd and are deemed interested in the 74,256,000 shares held by Viking 
Engineering Pte Ltd.

shareholding statistics
As at 25 March 2013
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